
 

 
 

Western and Southern Area Planning 
Committee 

 
Date: Thursday, 23 March 2023 
Time: 10.00 am 
Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ 
 

Members (Quorum 6)  
Dave Bolwell, Kelvin Clayton, Susan Cocking, Jean Dunseith, Nick Ireland, Louie O'Leary, 
Paul Kimber, Bill Pipe (Vice-Chairman), David Shortell (Chairman), Sarah Williams, 
Kate Wheller and John Worth 
 
Chief Executive: Matt Prosser, County Hall, Dorchester, Dorset DT1 1XJ  
 
For more information about this agenda please contact Democratic Services  
Meeting Contact  01305 224202  elaine.tibble@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk  
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting, apart from any items listed in 
the exempt part of this agenda. 
 
For easy access to all the council’s committee agendas and minutes download the free 
public app called Modern.Gov for use on any iPad, Android, and Windows tablet.  Once 
downloaded select Dorset Council. 
 
 
 

Agenda 
 
Item  Pages 

 
1.   AGENDA FRONT SHEET 

 
 

2.   APOLOGIES 
 

 

 To receive any apologies for absence 
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 

 To disclose any pecuniary, other registerable or non-registrable 
interest as set out in the adopted Code of Conduct. In making their 
disclosure councillors are asked to state the agenda item, the nature of 
the interest and any action they propose to take as part of their 
declaration.  
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



 

If required, further advice should be sought from the Monitoring Officer 
in advance of the meeting. 
 

4.   MINUTES 
 

3 - 22 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 23 February 2023. 
 

 

5.   PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 

 

 Members of the public wishing to speak to the Committee on a 
planning application should notify the Democratic Services Officer 
listed on the front of this agenda. This must be done no later than two 
clear working days before the meeting. Please refer to the Guide to 
Public Speaking at Planning Committee.   
 
GuidanceforspeakingatPlanningCommittee.doc.pdf 
(dorsetcouncil.gov.uk). 
 
The deadline for notifying a request to speak is 8.30am on Tuesday 21 
March 2023. 
 

 

6.   PLANNING APPLICATIONS 
 

 

 To consider the applications listed below for planning permission 
 

 

 a)   Application No - P/ HOU/2022/07110 - 55 Church Street, Lyme 
Regis, DT7 3DA  
To retain raised decking at rear of garden. 
 

23 - 36 

 b)   Application No P/FUL/2022/05777 - 7 Custom House Quay, 
Weymouth, Dorset, DT4 8BE  
Install large doors to ground floor and replacement windows. 
 

37 - 48 

 c)   Application No P/FUL/2023/00134 - 13 Clarence House, West 
Bay Road, West Bay, DT6 4EN  
Change of use of land to outdoor dining/seating area, 
construction of low retaining wall. 
 

49 - 64 

 d)   Application No P/FUL/2022/07724 - 16A Albany Road, Granby 
Industrial Estate, Chickerell, DT4 9TH  
Erect No. 2 Commercial Units to the front of site. 
 

65 - 74 

7.   URGENT ITEMS 
 

 

 To consider any items of business which the Chairman has had prior 
notification and considers to be urgent pursuant to section 100B (4) b) 
of the Local Government Act 1972  
The reason for the urgency shall be recorded in the minutes. 
 

 

8.   EXEMPT BUSINESS 
 

 

 To move the exclusion of the press and the public for the following item  

Page 2

https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s32349/GuidanceforspeakingatPlanningCommittee.doc.pdf
https://moderngov.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/documents/s32349/GuidanceforspeakingatPlanningCommittee.doc.pdf


 

in view of the likely disclosure of exempt information within the 
meaning of paragraph 3 of schedule 12 A to the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended).  
The public and the press will be asked to leave the meeting whilst the 
item of business is considered. 
 

 
 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

WESTERN AND SOUTHERN AREA PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON THURSDAY 23 FEBRUARY 2023 
 

Present: Cllrs Dave Bolwell (Left the meeting at 12:28), Kelvin Clayton, Jean Dunseith 
(Left the meeting at 12:28), Nick Ireland, Louie O'Leary (Left the meeting at 11:33), 
Paul Kimber, Bill Pipe (Vice-Chairman), David Shortell (Chairman), Sarah Williams and 
John Worth 
 
Apologies: Cllrs Susan Cocking and Kate Wheller 

 
Officers present (for all or part of the meeting): 
Ann Collins (Area Manager – Western and Southern Team), Bob Burden (Senior 
Planning Officer), Charlotte Loveridge (Planning Officer), Thomas Whild (Senior 
Planning Officer), Kate Williams (Senior Conservation and Design Officer), Elaine 
Tibble (Senior Democratic Services Officer), Joshua Kennedy (Apprentice Democratic 
Services Officer) and Hannah Massey (Lawyer - Regulatory) 
   

 
66.   Declarations of Interest 

 
Cllr Clayton declared an interest in item 5a, due to previously sitting as chairman 
of Transition Town Bridport and item 5d due to being the co-applicant of this 
application, as such he withdrew from the meeting during the consideration of both 
of these items. 
 
Cllr O’Leary declared an interest in item 5b, due to member of his family being the 
applicant and withdrew from the meeting during the consideration of this item. 
 
Cllr Bolwell declared an interest in item 5d, due to chairing the Bridport Town 
Council meeting, where this application was discussed, he withdrew from the 
meeting during the consideration of this item.  
 
 

67.   Minutes 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 January 2023 were confirmed and signed. 
 

68.   Public Participation 
 
Representations by the public to the Committee on individual planning applications 
are detailed below. There were no questions, petitions or deputations received on 
other items on this occasion. 
 
 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



2 

69.   Planning Applications 
 
Members considered written reports submitted on planning applications as set out 
below. 
 
Application No: P/FUL/2022/05708 - Land west of Atrim Road, Dottery, 
Dorset, DT6 5HS 
 
a)   The Senior Planning Officer presented the application for the installation 

of ground mounted photovoltaic units on land west of Atrium Road.  
 
Members were shown the location plan of the site, displaying the 
boundaries of the site in question and the surrounding area, as well as an 
ariel view of the site. Landscape proposals were shown to members, 
indicating the planned landscape mitigation around the border of the site, 
with the intention of screening views from the North and West of the site. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented photographs of the site from 
various viewpoints in the surrounding area, including a nearby public 
footpath. 
 
The main planning issues were: 

• The impact on residential amenity was considered to be limited 
due to the modest scale of the development providing no major 
overbearing impact on neighbouring residential properties and a 
condition which restricted the view of cameras away from 
properties. 

• The effect on agricultural land was thought to be modest due to the 
40 year life-span of the PV panels and the ability for the continued 
use of the land for grazing. 

• There was thought to be no major impact on local heritage sites 
due to the listed buildings being situated an appropriate distance 
from the development. 

• There were no objections from the Highways Department and a 
Traffic Management Plan had been included with the application to 
mitigate impacts during the construction phase. 
 

Oral representation in opposition to the application were received from Mr 
John Davies, Mr Clive Faircloth and Mr John Dean. 
 
Their concerns focused on the negative impact that the development 
would have on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), the loss 
of use of suitable agricultural land and the limited benefits in terms of 
renewable energy production.  
 
Oral representations in support of the application were received from Mr 
Peter West, Mr Malcom Drew and Ms Lisa Jackson, the agent for the 
applicant.  
 
In response to questions from members the Senior Planning Officer 
informed the committee that: 

Page 6



3 

• The development could provide energy to around 200 homes. 

• The site would require limited maintenance consisting of a weekly 
visit from an engineer. 

• There was no fund set aside for the decommissioning of the site 
after the 40-year timeframe should the applicant no longer be 
trading.  

• It was not certain that the land on the site was grade 1 agricultural 
land due to there being insufficient data, however it was likely that 
the land was of a high quality for agricultural use and could be 
reinstated for agricultural use once the panels have been removed.  

 
Cllr Clayton left the Council Chamber and did not take part in the debate 
or vote.  
 
Several members expressed support for the application, noting the need 
to produce more energy, particularly renewable energy and the benefits 
that this would provide to the local community, in respect to rising energy 
bills.  
 
One member expressed concern over the impact on the AONB and the 
loss of high-grade agricultural land should the development be approved 
and noted that it would be preferable to install solar panels on existing 
buildings, so as not to remove agricultural land from use.  
 
Proposed by Cllr Ireland and seconded by Cllr Kimber.  
 
Decision: That the application was granted subject to the conditions 
outlined in the appendix to these minutes.  
 

Application No: P/FUL/2022/03477 - Weymouth Rugby Club, Monmouth 
Avenue, Weymouth, DT3 5HZ 
 
b)   Cllr Clayton returned to the Council Chamber. 

 
This application had been brought to committee as Dorset Council was 
the freehold owner of the site. 
 
The Senior Planning Officer presented the retrospective application to 
retain a change of use from Club parking to Café area, placing of a steel 
box container and fencing. 
 
Members were shown the site location via a map and ariel image, 
indicating the sites boundaries, the surrounding area and the part of the 
site relevant to the application. These images showed the current usage 
of the site as a café, which consisted of a steel box container, 
surrounding fencing and hard standing surface with picnic benches.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer provided a detailed image displaying the 
front, rear and side views and elevation of the steel box container and 
fencing. As well as an interior view of the steel box container.  
 

Page 7



4 

The main issues of development were: 
 

• The character and appearance of the development, which was 
considered limited, due to the modest scale of the structure and 
fencing and the fact that they are made with natural materials and 
are not permanent structures, so can be removed easily if 
necessary. 

• The impact on amenity was considered low – although there had 
been objections from local residents regarding noise and odour, it 
was not considered that this development created any additional 
noise to the rugby club and only limited cooking of food was 
observed during a site visit.  

• There was no impact on access and parking, due to there being 
sufficient parking at the rugby club already and due to the fact that 
the portion of the carpark used for the site was overgrown and 
unused as parking before the development was erected.  

• The applicant had provided a Flood Risk Assessment as small 
portions of the site were in Flood Risk Zone 2 & 3.  

 
Oral representation in opposition to the application was received from Mr 
Robert Smith, Ms Linda Skelton and Mrs Anne Hall. 
 
They had no objection to the existence of the café in principle, however 
the orientation and location provided significant disruption to the 
enjoyment of their properties and affected their privacy and the lack of 
additional toilet facilities also posed a concern.  
 
In response to questions from members the Senior Planning Officer 
confirmed that the rugby club’s toilet facilities were not available to users 
of the café and there were no other toilet facilities on site, as such the 
only drainage required was from the sink in use in the kiosk.  
 
Several members expressed concerns over the application, in particular 
due to the harm that has been caused to local residents in regard to 
intrusive noise, odour and lack of toilet facilities on the site. 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 12:16 in order for the planning officers to 
provide suitable wording for the committee proposal put forward. It 
reconvened at 12:25. 
 
Proposed by Cllr Worth and seconded by Cllr Kimber.  
 
Decision: That permission be refused for the reasons outlined in the 
appendix to these minutes. 
 
Cllrs Dunseith and Bolwell left the meeting at 12:28. 
 
 
 

Application No: P/ADV/2022/07937 - Land opp. 16 Swaffield Gardens 
Weymouth Dorset DT4 9PE 

Page 8



5 

 
c)   The Senior Planning Officer presented the application for the replacement 

of an existing double-sided bus shelter advertisement board with a digital 
display.  
 
Members were shown the location of the application site within the 
surrounding area, as well as views of the site from the East and West and 
close-up images of the existing bus shelter in question. Members were 
also shown front, rear and side views and the elevation of the proposed 
new advertisement board.  
 
The Senior Planning Officer noted that there would be a 10 second 
refresh time on the digital display and the luminance levels would be 
adjusted to the time of day and season, so as not to be obtrusive. 
 
The key planning issues of the application were: 
 

• The principle of development, which was considered to be 
acceptable.  

• The visual amenity, this was considered acceptable due to the 
orientation of the advertisement board being side-on to the 
residential properties nearby. 

• There were no objections from Dorset Council’s Highways 
department, due to the development being fully compliant with all 
guidance regarding luminosity and refresh times of the digital 
display. 

 
Most members felt that this application posed no issues, although one 
member raised a concern about the potential safety hazard of the 
advertisement board, as it could be distracting to drivers. 
 
Proposed by Cllr Pipe and seconded by Cllr Kimber. 
 
Decision: That permission be granted subject to conditions laid out 
in the appendix to these minutes. 
 

Application No: P/LBC/2022/05563 - 48 St Michaels Lane, Bridport, DT6 3RB 
 
d)   Cllr Clayton left the Council Chamber for the consideration of this 

application. 
 
The Senior Conservation and Design Officer explained that this 
application had been brought to the committee for determination, 
because the applicant was a member of the committee.  
 
Members were shown the location of the property in relation to the 
surrounding area via a site plan, as well as images of the property 
showing the existing rooflight and frontage of the property. 
 
The Senior Conservation and Design Officer noted that the building was 
in a conservation area and showed members the location of other nearby 

Page 9



6 

listed buildings, however the proposed works were not considered to 
cause harm to the conservation area. 
 
Members had no objections to this application. 
 
Proposed by Cllr Ireland and seconded by Cllr Pipe. 
 
Decision: That permission be granted subject to conditions laid out 
in the appendix to these minutes. 
 

Application No: P/ADV/2022/05965 Chesil Beach Visitor Centre, Portland 
Road, DT4 9XE 
 
e)   Cllr Clayton returned to the Council Chamber. 

 
The Planning Officer presented the application for the installation of a 
new sign for the Chesil Beach Visitor Centre, which had come to the 
committee for determination because Dorset Council were the 
landowners. 
 
Members were shown the location of the proposed sign in relation to the 
surrounding area. Members were also shown a digital image of what the 
proposed signage would look like, including the scale of the sign and a 
photoshopped image of the sign in its proposed location.  
 
The scale, design and impact on character and appearance were all 
considered to be acceptable by the Planning Officer, who also noted that 
the sign had been moved back since the initial application to address 
concerns raised by Dorset Council’s Highways department that the sign 
could impact the visibility of drivers.  
 
A concern was raised about the impact the sign could have on the 
visibility of the road, however the Planning Officer assured that, following 
Highways advice this was no longer a significant concern. 
 
No other concerns were raised regarding this application.  
 
Proposed by Cllr Kimber and seconded by Cllr Worth. 
 
Decision: The application was granted subject to conditions laid out 
in the appendix to these minutes.   
 

70.   Urgent items 
 
There were no urgent items. 
 

71.   Exempt Business 
 
There was no exempt business.  
 
Decision Sheet 

Page 10



7 

 
 

 
 
Duration of meeting: 10.01 am - 1.01 pm 
 
 
Chairman 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Western & Southern Area Planning Committee  
23 February 2023 
Decision List 

Application Reference: P/FUL/2022/05708    

Application Site: Land West Of Atrim Road Dottery Dorset DT6 5HS     
 
Proposal: Installation of ground mounted photovoltaic (PV) units on galvanised steel 
table frameworks arranged into 12 arrays, with inverter in GRP enclosure, fencing, 
cameras, revised access, landscape and biodiversity mitigation 

Recommendation: GRANT, with conditions.  

Decision: GRANTED with the conditions outlined below 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Locations plan TQRQM22255154905114 
Array Details Rev 001 
Block Plan (with Aerial Photo) Rev 004 
Fence and Gate Detail DCE-001 
GRP and Solar DB Details Rev 001 
Landscape Proposals GE-L-01 Rev F 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
2. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 

the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. Reason: 
This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended).  

 
3. The development (including all ancillary equipment and structures) hereby 

approved shall be dismantled and removed from the site in its entirety and the 
land restored in accordance with a scheme and timetable of decommissioning 
works and land restoration pursuant to condition 4 of this consent, in 
accordance with the following timescales, whichever is the sooner: 
 
A) Within 40 years following first export of electricity to the grid; or 
B) within 6 months of the cessation of electricity generation by the solar PV 

facility hereby approved; or 
C) within 6 months following a permanent cessation of construction works prior 

to the solar pv facility coming into operational use. 
 
Written notice of the date of first export, the cessation of electricity 
generation or the permanent cessation of construction works prior to the 
solar pv facility coming into operational use, whichever is the sooner, shall 

Page 13



 

 

be given to the Local Planning Authority within 14 days of the said event 
occurring. 
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable restoration of the site in the interests of 
protecting the AONB and setting of heritage assets. 

 
4. Not later than 12 months before planned decommissioning of the development 

hereby approved a scheme for decommissioning and the restoration of the site 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
In the event of unplanned cessation of construction works or electricity 
generation, under scenario (b) or (c) of condition 3, a scheme for 
decommissioning and the restoration of the site shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 6 months of the date 
electricity generation or construction works ceased. The scheme shall make 
provision for the removal of the solar arrays and the associated above ground 
structures, equipment and foundations. The scheme shall include the 
management and timing of any works; a traffic management plan; an 
environmental management plan including measures to protect wildlife and 
habitat; restoration measures, and a programme of implementation. 
Decommissioning and re-instatement of the land shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved scheme. 
 
Reason: To ensure an acceptable restoration of the site in the interests of 
protecting the AONB. 

 
5. Prior to the construction and installation of any PV panels, supporting 

structures, gates, fences and substation cabinets within the site, a materials 
schedule detailing the external colour and finish of each of the boundary 
treatments/equipment/apparatus shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the approved finish for the buildings 
and equipment shall be retained and maintained for the lifetime of the 
development in accordance with the details as have been agreed. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity 

 
6. Prior to the commencement of any development hereby approved, all existing 

trees and hedges (as shall be first shown on a submitted plan) shall be fully 
safeguarded in accordance with BS 5837:2005 (Trees in relation to construction 
- recommendations) or any other Standard that may be in force at the time that 
development commences and these safeguarding measures shall be retained 
for the duration of construction works and building operations. No unauthorised 
access or placement of goods, fuels or chemicals, soil or other material shall 
take place within the tree protection zone(s). 
 
Reason: To ensure that trees and hedges to be retained are adequately 
protected from damage to health and stability throughout the construction 
period and in the interests of amenity. 

 

Page 14



 

 

7. Prior to the installation of any PV panels, a detailed soft landscaping and 
planting scheme (based on plan GE-L- Rev F) shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme 
shall be implemented in full during the planting season November - March 
following commencement of the development or within a timescale to be agreed 
in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The scheme shall include provision 
for the maintenance and replacement as necessary of the trees and shrubs for 
a period of not less than 15 years. 
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity. 

 
8. A landscape and ecological management plan (LEMP) shall be submitted to, 

and be approved in writing by, the local planning authority prior to first export of 
electricity from the development hereby approved. The content of the LEMP 
shall include the following: 
 

a) Description and evaluation of features to be managed. 
b) Ecological trends and constraints on site that might influence management. 
c) Aims and objectives of management. 
d) Appropriate management options for achieving aims and objectives. 
e) Prescriptions for management actions. 
f) Preparation of a work schedule (including an annual work plan capable of being 

rolled forward over a five-year period). 
g) Details of the body or organization responsible for implementation of the plan. 
h) Ongoing monitoring and remedial measures. 

 
The LEMP shall also include details of the legal and funding mechanism(s) by 
which the long-term implementation of the plan will be secured by the developer 
with the management body(ies) responsible for its delivery. 
 
The LEMP shall also set out (where the results from monitoring show that 
conservation aims and objectives of the LEMP are not being met) how 
contingencies and/or remedial action will be identified, agreed and 
implemented so that the development still delivers the fully functioning 
biodiversity objectives of the originally approved scheme. 
 
The approved LEMP must be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details. 
 
Reason: To protect the landscape character of the area and to mitigate, 
compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on biodiversity. 

 
9. Prior to commencement of development details of the materials and surfacing 

of the site access, parking and turning areas shall first have been submitted to 
and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with such details as have been agreed. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. 

 

Page 15



 

 

10. Prior to commencement of development hereby approved a Construction 
Traffic Management Plan and programme of works shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall include 
construction vehicle details (number, size, type and frequency of movement), 
vehicular routes, delivery hours and contractors’ arrangements (compound, 
storage, parking, turning, surfacing, drainage and wheel wash facilities). The 
development shall thereafter be carried out strictly in accordance with the 
approved Construction Traffic Management Plan. 
 
Reason: In the interests of road safety. 

 
11. The detailed biodiversity mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain 

strategy set out within the approved Biodiversity Plan dated 7/12/22 certified by 
the Dorset Council Natural Environment Team issued on 13/12/22 must be 
implemented in accordance with any specified timetable and completed in full 
(including photographic evidence of compliance being submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority in accordance with section J of the Biodiversity Plan) prior 
to the substantial completion, or the first bringing into use of the development 
hereby approved, whichever is the sooner. The development shall 
subsequently be implemented entirely in accordance with the approved details 
and the mitigation, compensation and enhancement/net gain measures shall 
be permanently maintained and retained for the lifetime of the development 
hereby approved, unless any variation to the Bio-diversity Plan has been 
agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: To mitigate, compensate and enhance/provide net gain for impacts on 
biodiversity. 

 
12. Prior to the erection of any security cameras and associated equipment, a plan 

showing the camera locations, orientation and coverage shall have been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, 
development shall proceed in strict accordance with such details as have been 
agreed. 
 
Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the amenity of nearby properties. 

 
13. No illumination of the temporary construction phase lighting shall take place 

until details of the location, number and illumination details shall first have been 
submitted to and agreed in writing by the local planning authority. The 
construction phase shall be limited to a period between 1st April and the 31st 
October in any year (unless otherwise agreed with the local planning authority) 
and starting no earlier than 30 minutes after sunrise and finishing no later than 
30 minutes prior to sunset with no site lighting to be left on overnight. Three 
shall be no permanent lighting of the site without the prior written permission of 
the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In the interest of visual amenity and ecology. 

 

Page 16



 

 

14. No electricity generation shall take place from the site until details to confirm 
that noise from any plant/installations will satisfy appropriate acoustic standards 
(eg BS 4142:2014 +A1:2019) has first been submitted to and agreed in writing 
by the local planning authority. Thereafter the development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the approved details and any mitigation measures identified 
shall be incorporated into the development prior to any electricity generation at 
the site. 
 
Reason: In the interests of protecting residential amenity. 

 
Informative Notes: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework Statement: 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on 
providing sustainable development.  
 
The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by: 
- offering a pre-application advice service, and 
- as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.  
 
In this case: 
- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to 
address issues identified by the case officer. 
- The applicant was provided with pre-application advice. 
 
The applicant should contact Dorset Highways by telephone at 01305 221020, by 
email at dorsethighways@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, or in writing at Dorset Highways, 
Page 52 Dorset Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the 
commencement of any works on or adjacent to the public highway, to ensure that the 
appropriate licence(s) and or permission(s) are obtained under the Highways Act, 
including agreement on temporary safety measures at the sites access during 
construction.  

 
The applicant is advised that the granting of planning permission does not override the 
need for existing rights of way affected by the development to be kept open and 
unobstructed until the statutory procedures authorising closure or diversion have been 
completed. Developments, in so far as it affects a right of way should not be started 
until the necessary order for the diversion has come into effect. 

 
Application Reference: P/FUL/2022/03477 
 
Application Site: Weymouth Rugby Club Monmouth Avenue Weymouth Dorset DT3 
5HZ 
 
Proposal: Retain change of use from Club parking to Cafe' area, placing of a steel 
box container and fencing.  

Page 17



 

 

Recommendation: Grant subject to conditions.  

Decision: Refuse: 

Having regard to the proximity of residential properties, due to the harm arising from 
noise, odour and lack of toilet facilities the proposal is considered to adversely 
impact on residential amenity contrary to policy ENV16 of the West Dorset 
Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015. 

 

Application Reference: P/ADV/2022/07937 

 

Application Site: Land opp. 16 Swaffield Gardens Weymouth Dorset DT4 9PE 
 
Proposal: Replace existing double-sided internally illuminated 6-sheet Bus Shelter 
advertising display with double-sided digital display. 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to conditions 

Decision: GRANTED subject to the following conditions. 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 

following approved plans: 
 
The location plan 
Block Plan of the site Rev A 
Proposed Plans & Elevations 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 
2. The permitted advert must be static, have no moving parts, no flashing lights, 

no animation, no reflective material and no images that could lead it to be 
confused with a formal road sign. 
 
Reason: To prevent possible distraction and confusion to drivers. 

 
3. No external lighting and/or floodlighting is be installed on the advertisement. 

 
Reason: To ensure that drivers aren’t dazzled or distracted by the light, and 
that there is no harm to residential amenity. 

 
4. Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, 

the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair 
visual amenity. 
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
5. Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 

advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the 
visual amenity of the site. 

Page 18



 

 

 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
6. Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 

displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 
endanger the public. 
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
7. No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the 

site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission.  
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
8. The images on this digital advertisement shall be refreshed no more frequently 

than once every ten seconds.  
Reason: To prevent possible distraction and confusion to drivers, and harm to 
residential amenity. 

 
9. No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to; a) danger persons using 

any highway, railway, waterway, dock, harbour or aerodrome (civil or military); 
b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, railway signal 
or aid to navigation by water or air; or c) hinder the operation of any device used 
for the purposes of security or surveillance or for measuring the speed of any 
vehicle.  
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
10. The luminance levels of the advert hereby approved shall be in accordance with 

the details contained in the submitted document titled “Bus shelter advertising 
and free-standing advertising unit concession”.  
 
Reason: To safeguard the character of the locality 
 

Informative Notes: 
1. Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement 

 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused 
on providing sustainable development. 
 
The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 
- offering a pre-application advice service, and 

Page 19



 

 

- as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in 
the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
In this case: 
- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the 
opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer. 

 
2. The applicant should contact Dorset Highways by telephone at 01305 221020, 

by email at dorsethighways@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, or in writing at Dorset 
Highways, Dorset Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the 
commencement of any works on or adjacent to the public highway, to ensure 
that the appropriate licence(s) and or permission(s) are obtained. 

 
Application Reference: P/LBC/2022/05563 
 
Application Site: 48 St Michaels Lane Bridport DT6 3RB 
 
Proposal: Replace front and rear doors. Replace existing roof light with conservation 
roof light. Remove existing sloping ceiling to attic and fit insulation between and under 
rafters and plasterboard and skim. Remove cement raised strap pointing and replace 
with lime mortar. Relocate kitchen. 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to conditions. 
 
Decision: GRANTED subject to the following conditions. 
 

1. The works hereby consented shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Existing Floor Plan - Drawing No: 233/1  
Existing North and East Elevation - Drawing No: 233/2  
Proposed Rear Door Details - Drawing No: 233/6  
Proposed kitchen fixtures layout plan submitted in email from applicant on 2 
January 2023 
 
Reason: To preserve the architectural and historical qualities of the building. 

 
2. The replacement roof light shall be a top hung, black metal conservation 

rooflight with vertical glazing bar and fitted flush to the roof plane. 
 
Reason: To preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the heritage 
asset. 

 
3. Prior to commencement of the internal works, precise details on plans and 

elevations, showing the position and means of concealment of all new and 
relocated internal services, related fittings and external vents/extract 
designs/material/finish and locations shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 

Page 20



 

 

Reason: To protect and safeguard the fabric of the heritage asset. 
 

4. Detailed drawings and specifications showing the design, material, finish 
(including colour), construction, furniture and glazing of both external doors (at 
a scale no less than 1:10) shall be provided to the Local Planning Authority and 
approved in writing prior to the installation of either new door. Thereafter, the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the heritage 
asset. 

 
5. Prior to the commencement of works to the attic level, proposed plans and 

sections of the new plasterboard ceiling at attic level, (which should match the 
form/position of that existing) along with details of the location and size of the 
proposed loft hatch shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and 
approved in writing. Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason: To preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the heritage 
asset. 

 
Informative Notes: 

1. Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement 
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 
authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused 
on providing sustainable development.  
 
The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner 
by: 
 
- offering a pre-application advice service, and  
 
- as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in 
the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 
 
In this case:  
 
- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the 
opportunity to address issues identified by the case officer. 

 
2. Please check that any plans approved under the building regulations match the 

plans approved in this listed building consent. Do not start work until revisions 
are secured to either of the two approvals to ensure that the development has 
the required listed building consent. 

 
Application Reference: P/ADV/2022/05965 

Page 21



 

 

 
Application Site: Chesil Beach Visitor Centre, Portland Beach Road, Portland, DT4 
9XE 
 
Proposal: Display of 1no. sign board 
 
Recommendation: GRANT subject to conditions. 
 
Decision: GRANTED subject to the following conditions. 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Location Plan (received 18/01/2023)  
Sign Details (received 18/01/2023) 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

2. The permitted advertisements must be static, have no moving parts, no 
illumination, no flashing lights, no animation, no reflective material and no 
images that could lead it to be confused with a formal road signs.  
 
Reason: To prevent possible distraction and confusion to drivers. 

 
3. Where an advertisement is required under these Regulations to be removed, 

the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the public or impair 
visual amenity.  
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
4. Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 

displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does not 
endanger the public.  
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
5. Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 

advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair the 
visual amenity of the site.  
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

 
6. No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner of the 

site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant permission.  
 
Reason: As is required by Regulation 14 and Schedule 2 of the Town and 
Country Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007. 

Page 22



 

 

 
Informative Notes: 
National Planning Policy Framework Statement  
 
In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, 
takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing 
sustainable development.  
 
The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:  
 
- offering a pre-application advice service, and  
 
- as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.  
 
In this case: 
- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to 
address issues identified by the case officer.  
 
INFORMATIVE NOTE: Contact Dorset Highways The applicant should contact 
Dorset Highways by telephone at 01305 221020, by email at 
dorsethighways@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, or in writing at Dorset Highways, Dorset 
Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the commencement of any works 
on or adjacent to the public highway, to ensure that the appropriate licence(s) and or 
permission(s) are obtained. 

 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: 
P/HOU/2022/07110      

Webpage: 
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ 

Site address: 55 Church Street Lyme Regis DT7 3DA 

Proposal:  To retain raised decking at rear of garden.  

Applicant name: 
Sarah Daw 

Case Officer: 
Rob Piggot 

Ward Member(s): Cllr Bawden  

 
 
 

1.0 This application is brought to committee at the request of the Service Manager for 
Development Management and Enforcement in accordance with the constitution and 
in light of the Town Council’s comments and noting the committee referral request 
made by the Chairman of the planning committee. 

2.0 Summary of recommendation: 

REFUSE for the following reason(s):  

1. It is considered that the structure is not in harmony with the historical setting of 55 

Church Street which consists of multiple heritage assets, where the platform with 

balustrading is considered overly large, high and of a utilitarian finish, issues 

which are exacerbated by the elevated position in which it is sited and by its 

intended use. In this regard it is considered to cause less than substantial harm 

without public benefit to outweigh the harm to the Church of St Michael (Grade I) 

and its associated churchyard, walls and railings (Grade II), the grave of Mary 

Anning (Non-Designated Heritage Asset), and to Lyme Regis Conservation Area. 

Given the churchyard is identified as an area of importance in the Conservation 

Area Appraisal, it is also not considered to preserve or enhance the character of 

Lyme Regis Conservation Area. It therefore fails to comply with Local Plan 

Policies ENV4, ENV10 and ENV12 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland 

Local Plan (2015) and is not in accordance with paragraphs 199-200 and 202-203 

of Section 16 of the NPPF. 

2.2 Having regard to the location and elevation of the platform at 55 Church Street 

and the extent of views provided by the platform into properties to the north and 

south, the retention of the raised decking and platform would enable an 

unacceptable degree of noise, activity and overlooking and be overbearing to 

properties immediately neighbouring it (54 and 55a Church Street) to the 

significant detriment of the residential amenity of those properties and would 

therefore not be in accordance with Policy ENV16 of the West Dorset, Weymouth 

& Portland Local Plan (2015). 

 

Page 25

Agenda Item 6a



3.0 Reason for the recommendation:  

• The structure is considered to cause less than substantial harm without 
public benefits to the setting of listed and non-designated heritage assets, 
those being Church of St Michael (Grade I) and its associated churchyard, 
walls and railings (Grade II), the grave of Mary Anning (Non-Designated 
Heritage Asset), and to Lyme Regis Conservation Area. 
 

• The structure is considered to have a significant adverse effect on the 
residential amenity of the occupants of 54 and 55a Church Street.  

4.0 Key planning issues  

 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of development May be acceptable if all other relevant material 
considerations were satisfied. 

Scale, design, impact on character and 
appearance 

Unacceptable. Considered to be an intrusive 
and incongruous structure in a particularly 
sensitive location, being surrounded by heritage 
assets of high significance. 

Impact on amenity Unacceptable. Considered to have a significant 
adverse effect through overlooking and being 
overbearing to the residential amenity of 55a 
and 54 Church Street. 

Impact on landscape Acceptable. Considered to be read within the 
wider built-up environment of Lyme Regis. 

Economic benefits None. 

Flooding and Ground Stability Acceptable. Suitable evidence provided to show 
structure would not lead to instability of wider 
area, with structure not considered to lead to 
wider flooding. 

5.0 Description of Site 

55 Church Street is a c.19th Grade II listed terraced house to the northeast of the 

town centre of Lyme Regis. The dwelling is one of a group of historic buildings which 

includes the terrace of houses 46-57 Church Street (all Grade II listed), the Church 

of St Michael (Grade I listed), and the churchyard wall and railings (also Grade I 

listed as curtilage structures).  

The terrace block that 55 sits within runs northeast to southwest, directly fronting 

Church St, with garden areas to the rear. The land which the application site is on 

slopes upward toward the northeast and east and as such the rear garden is 

elevated, with properties to the south, 55a-57 Church Street, situated below it.  

The application site is in Lyme Regis Conservation Area and within an Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty.   

 

Page 26



6.0 Description of Development 

This application is retrospective, whereby it was identified that a timber structure had 

been built in the rear garden of 55 Church Street, adjacent to the southern boundary 

wall, and that it exceeded the limits for a raised platform, as set out in Schedule 2, 

Class E of the Town and Country Planning Act, whereby any raised platform above 

300mm requires planning permission. 

The application therefore seeks to retain the existing standalone timber platform 

structure, timber and stainless-steel balustrade, and timber access stair, where the 

platform including balustrade is approximately 2.8m high x 3m wide x 3m long. A 

void exists below the platform and this currently appears to be used as a storage 

area.  

7.0 Relevant Planning History   

None relevant to the application site. 
 

8.0 List of Constraints 

Within the Defined Development Boundary 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

Lyme Regis and Charmouth Slope Instability Zones; Zone 2 

Right of Way: Footpath W2/25; - Distance: 9.11 

Risk of Surface Water Flooding Extent 1 in 30, 1 in 100, 1 in 1000 

 
Identified Heritage Assets. Description and significance: 

54 and 55 Church Street, Grade II (List Entry: 1279095) 

19th Century 3 storey cottages  

Bay windows, slate gabled roof, rendered front, sash windows, rectangular 
fanlights. 

Form a group with Parish Church of St Michael, the churchyard wall and 
railings and with the Infants School. 

46 – 57 Church Street (excl. 55 Church Street), Grade II (List Entries: 1229382; 
1279093;1229383; 1229384; 1229385; 1229386; 1229387) 

19th century 2 storey cottages, noted for fenestration, dormers, cornice eaves, 
sash windows and fanlights, quoining, slate roofs, stuccoed and pebbledash 
frontages. 

Form a group with Parish Church of St Michael, the churchyard wall and 
railings and with the Infants School. 

Parish Church of St Michael, Grade I (List Entry: 1229389) 

12th-15th Century origins, cruciform (cross shaped) layout. Undergone various 
restorations. The Tower and eastern part of the nave remain intact. 17th 

Page 27



Century gallery and pulpit. Also noted for monuments, floor slabs and 
brasses. 

Forms a group with 46-57 Church Street, the churchyard wall and railings and 
with the Infants School. 

The Church of St Michael & the churchyard wall form a group with Nos 7 to 9 
(consec) Monmouth Street. 

Churchyard Wall and Railings, Grade II (List Entry: 1229392) 

19th Century origins. Wall of stone rubble with coping extends from entry at 
north end of churchyard and ascends in height along Church Street as far as 
the south end of the churchyard, adjoining the Infant's School. Railings have 
uprights which rise alternately to 2 different heights; alternately with fleur-de-
lys and spear-headed finials. Piers of stone with peaked capping flank entry at 
north end; gate. 

Forms a group with 46-57 Church Street, Parish Church of St Michael and 
with the Infants School. 

The Church of St Michael & the churchyard wall form a group with Nos 7 to 9 
(consec) Monmouth Street. 

Mary Annings Grave (Non-Designated Heritage Asset)  

Identified by the Conservation Officer as a non-designated heritage asset, 
sited within the churchyard, close to the north-eastern access point to the 
churchyard, north of the church and south of the rear garden of 57 Church 
Street. 

Lyme Regis Conservation Area (Review 2010) 

The Conservation Area Appraisal identifies the churchyard as an important 

open space and the church itself as a key listed building (pages 21 and 32). 

The parish churchyard is identified as having social and historic significance 

with important views down Church Street, Monmouth Street and across town 

and Lyme Bay (page 32). 

Church Street is identified as being part of a large group of buildings which are 

of a coherent character and quality (page 25). 

The tall boundary walls of the Parish Church are considered to be of great 

significance (page 27). 

 

9.0 Consultations 

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 

Consultees 

1. Historic England 

We suggest that you seek the views of your specialist conservation and 

archaeological advisers. 

 

Page 28



2. Conservation Officers 

This application for a raised construction of decking with associated 

balustrading will have a harmful impact on the setting of nearby heritage 

assets. I am not aware of any public benefits that could be weighed against 

the harm. I could not support the application. 

3. Coastal risk management 

No objection 

4. Lyme Regis Town Council 

Members have considered this application in the light of the ground stability 

report and have recommended that the application be approved because it 

does not involve material harm to the Conservation Area or heritage assets 

and does not involve an unacceptably adverse impact on the residential 

amenity of neighbouring properties. 

5. Lyme and Charmouth Ward Councillor(s) 

Cllr Bawden (Lyme Regis Ward): 

The height of the decking is higher than the neighbouring one to the right 

(looking from behind the houses from the cemetery); higher than the current 

height of the wall; and has a clear impact on the neighbouring two gardens 

and houses to the left (from the cemetery).  

I know we have no mechanism to try to mitigate holiday letting impacts but 

personally I feel the two neighbouring properties which I understand are lived 

in permanently and potentially the peace of the cemetery and local footpath 

will be adversely affected if the tall deck/balcony is widely used by groups of 

holiday makers. 

Representations received  

 
Comments received from two neighbouring properties, 56 and 57 Church Street. In 

summary: 

- Unsightly timber decking and tower of large proportions which affects the wider 
setting of the neighbouring church and cemetery, and Lyme Regis Conservation 
Area. 

- Platform is an invasion of privacy where it provides views into local gardens and 
bedroom windows of adjacent properties. 

- Being used by holidaying guests, where this would be an intensification of use. 

- Disruption to neighbouring properties by way of noise. 

Page 29



- Disruption, intrusion on the church yard and cemetery the platform overlooks, 
affecting the way the cemetery is experienced as a commemorative area. 

 

Total - Objections Total -  No Objections Total - Comments 

2 0 2 
 

10.0 Duties 

s38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires that the 

determination of planning applications must be in accordance with the development 

plan unless material circumstances indicate otherwise. 

The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990- section 66 

includes a general duty to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the 

building or its setting or any features of special architectural or historic interest which 

it possesses. (inc setting) 

Section 72 requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 

preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas. 

11.0 Relevant Policies 

West Dorset, Weymouth and Portland Local Plan (2015) 
 

ENV1  - Landscape, seascape & sites of other geological interest  

ENV4  - Heritage assets  

ENV5  - Flood Risk 

ENV7  - Coastal Erosion and Land Instability 

ENV10 - The landscape and townscape setting  

ENV12 - The design and positioning of buildings  

ENV16 - Amenity  

INT1  - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

SUS2  - Distribution Of Development 

 
National Planning Policy Framework 

• Section 4. Decision taking: Para 38 - Local planning authorities should 
approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. 
They should use the full range of planning tools available…and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at 
every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development 
where possible.  

• Section 12 ‘Achieving well designed places indicates that all development to be 
of a high quality in design, and the relationship and visual impact of it to be 
compatible with the surroundings. In particular, and amongst other things, 
Paragraphs 126 – 136 advise that: 

Page 30



The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people. 

It is important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive 
design for all development, including individual buildings, public and private 
spaces and wider area development schemes. 

Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it 
fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.  

• Section 14 ‘Meeting the challenges of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change’  

• Section 15 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment’- In Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty great weight should be given to conserving and 
enhancing the landscape and scenic beauty (para 176). Decisions in Heritage 
Coast areas should be consistent with the special character of the area and the 
importance of its conservation (para 173). Paragraphs 179-182 set out how 
biodiversity is to be protected and encourage net gains for biodiversity. 

• Section 16 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment’- When 
considering designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation, irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance 
(para 199). The effect of an application on the significance of non-designated 
heritage assets should also be taken into account (para 203). 

 
Other material considerations 
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance For West Dorset Area: 

WDDC Design & Sustainable Development Planning Guidelines (2009)  

Landscape Character Assessment February 2009 (West Dorset) 

Conservation Area Appraisals: 
Lyme Regis adopted October 2010 
 
All of Dorset: 

Dorset AONB Landscape Character Assessment 

Dorset AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 

12.0 Human rights  

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 

The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property. 

This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 

 
 

Page 31



13.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty  

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty.  

The raised decking area is in private ownership being in the garden of no. 55. In 
terms of accessibility for current and future occupants of the property, the decking is 
accessed via steps which may result in difficulties or make it impossible for those 
with limited mobility to access. However, the remainder of the garden would still 
provide an area for current and future occupants to use for amenity purposes. 

 

14.0 Financial benefits  
  

What Amount / value 

Material Considerations – N/A 

Non-Material Considerations – N/A 

 
15.0 Environmental Implications 

None 
 

16.0 Planning Assessment 
 

Principle of Development 

16.1 Alterations to the existing dwelling and property, within a defined development 

boundary, are considered acceptable under Policy SUS2 of the West Dorset, 

Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015). This is still however subject to other 

material planning considerations. 

Impact on Heritage Assets and Visual Amenity 

16.2 The rear garden area of 55 Church Street is set within a particularly sensitive 

location, being at the top of a sloping section which is within the setting of the Grade 

I Listed Parish Church of St Michael, its surrounding stone walls, churchyard and 

cemetery (Grade II) - in which can be found the grave of Mary Anning – with views 

into the garden, and indeed properties 55a-57 Church Street (Grade II), being 

Page 32



afforded from the southwest from the churchyard. The application site is also within 

the setting of Grade II listed dwellings 46-57 Church Street to the northwest and is 

sited within Lyme Regis Conservation Area. 

16.3 Addressing the setting of the Church and surrounds, it is considered that the 

recently constructed decking platform in the rear garden of 55 Church Street is 

sizeable, elevated and visually intrusive. The visual intrusion of the structure is 

further exacerbated by virtue of the materials which the platform has been 

constructed of, where they are utilitarian - being treated and unfinished timber – 

which are at odds with the setting of the high-status 12th Century church, churchyard 

and boundary walls in which it is sited, being characterised by stone and slate. The 

structure is sited in an already elevated location and is highly visible above the 

churchyard walls running along the southern boundary.  

16.4 Setting aside the physical appearance of the structure itself, the use of the 

platform, which would be large enough to accommodate several people at a time, is 

also considered to be problematic, where its use would be a visual and audible 

disruption to the way in which the churchyard, cemetery and indeed church are 

experienced. The churchyard is considered to be a quiet place of reflection, a 

transitionary space between the tight knit and busy urban town centre and the coast 

beyond it. The social significance of the churchyard is identified in the Conservation 

Area Appraisal, where Mary Anning’s gravesite is located within the churchyard – 

this gravesite has been identified by the Conservation Officer as a Non-Designated 

Heritage Asset. 

16.5 The structure is also considered to harm the Conservation Area, where the 

Conservation Area Appraisal clearly identifies the church itself as a key listed 

building, the churchyard as an important open space, having social and historic 

significance, as previously noted, with the tall boundary walls surrounding the church 

considered to be of great significance. Furthermore it is notable that the cottages of 

46-57 Church Street and the Church and Churchyard are identified as having group 

value. Given the visual and experiential intrusion that this decking and platform 

represents it is not considered to either preserve or enhance the character of the 

Conservation Area. 

16.6 Addressing the impact on the Grade II listed 55 Church Street, it is not 

considered that it would cause harm to this heritage asset, where it is sufficiently 

distanced from the dwelling and would not affect the features of the building which 

contribute to its significance (see Section 8), being screened from direct view by 

planting. 

16.7 In terms of the remaining listed cottages along Church Street, the structure is 

partially visible within properties immediately to the north (46-53 Church Street), 

directly visible from 54, and, given the sloping topography of the area, directly visible 

within properties to the south (56-57 Church Street). The significance of these 

Page 33



heritage assets is derived from the dwellings specifically and their features (see 

Section 8). Where the structure is sufficiently separated from these listed heritage 

assets, and not directly affecting the aspects of the buildings which constitute their 

significance, it is not considered to cause harm to the setting of the surrounding 

listed cottages of Church Street affected, 46-57 Church Street. 

16.8 As a sidenote, there would appear to be examples of balconies within the 

setting of St Michaels Church – these being 1-4 Church Cliff Flats to the north and 5 

Church Cliff to the south – however, these are: integrated with the buildings they 

serve; are not standalone structures; and are considered to be sufficiently separate 

from the churchyard by virtue of their elevation or distance.  

16.9 A summary table of heritage harm is provided below.  

Heritage 

Asset 

Status NO HARM LESS THAN 

SUBSTANTIAL 

HARM 

SUBSTANTIAL 

HARM  

55 Church 

Street 

Grade II X   

46-57 

Church 

Street 

Grade II X   

Church of St 

Michael  

Grade I  X  

Churchyard 

Wall and 

Railings  

Grade II  X  

Mary 

Annings 

Grave 

Non-

Designated 

Heritage 

Asset 

 X  

Lyme Regis 

Conservation 

Area 

  X  

 

16.10 Overall the scheme is considered to result in less than substantial harm to the 

significance of St Michaels Church (Grade I), Churchyard and walls (Grade II); the 

non-designated heritage asset being Mary Anning’s Grave; and Lyme Regis 

Conservation Area where it would not preserve or enhance the Lyme Regis 

Page 34



Conservation Area. There would be no public benefit to outweigh the harm identified. 

The proposal is therefore contrary to policies ENV4, ENV10 & ENV12 of the West 

Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) and advice contained within Section 

16 of the NPPF (2021). 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (Wider Setting) 

16.11 In terms of impact on the Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty, it is considered 

that there would be limited impact on this given that the platform is located in an 

urban location, within the backdrop of a built-up area where the height of surrounding 

buildings and land topography minimises any impact from wider views. 

Impact on Residential Amenity 

16.12 The elevated nature of the raised platform and its use is also considered to be 

harmful to neighbour amenity. Given the topography of the site, where the rear 

garden is elevated, the structure is considered to introduce overlooking to properties 

to the north, that being 54 Church Street, and to the south, those being 55a-57 

Church Street, given the land falls away to the south.  

16.13 In terms of properties to the north, whilst it is acknowledged that there are 

inter-relational views with 54 Church Street, given they have also erected a similar 

sized platform, the privacy of future occupants of this property also requires 

consideration. This is considered to be important given that it would not appear that 

the platform at 54 Church Street is consented, this not being a matter of 

consideration for this assessment though. It is considered that the platform at the 

application site  introduces overlooking and the effect of being overbearing to 54 

Church Street.  

16.14 In terms of properties to the south, it is considered that the platform introduces 

overbearing effects and offers direct views into the rear elevation windows and 

garden of 55a. It is also considered to offer partial views into the rear gardens and 

windows on the rear elevations of 56 and 57 Church Street.  

16.15 There are further concerns with the harm that may be caused to occupants of 

properties neighbouring 55 Church Street by way of disturbance through sound, light 

and movement when the platform is in use. The platform is elevated and it is noted 

that outdoor lights have been affixed to its balustrading, along with this the size of 

the structure would allow it to accommodate multiple individuals. It would potentially 

introduce a level of activity and noise which would be exacerbated by its elevated 

nature that would detract from the character and amenity of the area and quiet 

enjoyment of the residential properties neighbouring it. This notwithstanding, the 

degree of harm is only considered to be significantly adverse to the properties 

directly neighbouring 55 Church Street (54 and 55a Church Street). There is 

considered to be sufficient separation from properties 56 and 57. 

Page 35



16.16 Overall, it is considered that the scheme fails to protect neighbouring amenity 

contrary to policy ENV16 (amenity) of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local 

Plan (2015). 

Flooding and Ground Stability 

16.17 A Ground Stability Assessment has been carried out by Chapman 

Geotechnical Ltd, with letter dated 5th January 2023 on file, which concludes that 

there would be no impact on ground stability or flooding as a result of the structure 

which has been constructed. The proposal would therefore be in accordance with 

policies ENV5 and ENV7 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 

(2015). 

16.18 In terms of flooding, it is noted that the site is susceptible to surface water 

flooding, however, given the small scale nature of the development, where the 

construction of the platform appears to allow for water to permeate, it is not 

considered to increase the risk of flooding at the application site or lead to 

consequential flooding elsewhere. 

Further Considerations 

Holiday Let Use 

16.19 Concerns have been raised with regard to the use of the platform by those 

occupying 55 Church Street as a holiday let, suggesting that this would be a further 

intensification. Whilst this is acknowledged, the use of the property is not being 

applied for, it is only the structure of the raised platform to be considered by this 

application. 

Further Rear Garden Structures 

16.20 It is noted that there are several other examples of rear garden platform 

structures along the terrace. These structures do not appear to benefit from consent, 

however, in any case this would not be a matter for consideration for this planning 

assessment.  Each planning application is considered on its own merit. 

17.0 Conclusion 

17.1 Given the particularly sensitive location that 55 Church Street is situated within - 

consisting of multiple heritage assets, some of which are high status - the bulky, 

elevated and incongruous appearance of the platform structure at 55 Church Street 

is considered to be detrimental to the heritage, character and visual amenity of the 

area. In this regard it is considered to cause less than substantial harm, without 

public benefit to outweigh that harm, to the Church of St Michael (Grade I) and its 

associated churchyard , walls and railings (Grade II), the grave of Mary Anning (Non-

Designated Heritage Asset), and to Lyme Regis Conservation Area. Given the 

churchyard is identified as an area of importance, it is also not considered to 

preserve or enhance the character of Lyme Regis Conservation Area. It therefore 

Page 36



fails to comply with Local Plan Policies ENV4, ENV10 and ENV12 of the West 

Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) and is not in accordance with 

paragraphs 199-200 and 202-203 of Section 16 of the NPPF.  

17.2 Given the built setting the structure is sited within, it is considered to be 

acceptable in terms of its impact on the wider landscape and the AONB and would 

therefore be in accordance with policy ENV1 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & 

Portland Local Plan (2015). 

17.3 Having regard to the location and elevation of the platform at 55 Church Street 

and the extent of views provided by the platform into properties to the north and 

south, the retention of the raised decking and platform would enable an 

unacceptable degree of overlooking and be overbearing to properties immediately 

neighbouring it and would not be in accordance with Policy ENV16 of the West 

Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015). 

17.4 Having regard to flooding and ground stability, suitable evidence has been 

provided to suggest it would not cause adverse impact on the ground instability zone 

it is within and the structure is not considered to cause further flooding. Thus, the 

structure is considered to be acceptable in terms of policies ENV5 and ENV7 of the 

West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015). 

18.0 Recommendation  

Refuse for the following reasons:  

1. It is considered that the structure is not in harmony with the historical setting of 

55 Church Street which consists of multiple heritage assets, where the platform 

with balustrading is considered overly large, high and of a utilitarian finish, 

issues which are exacerbated by the elevated position in which it is sited and 

by its intended use. In this regard it is considered to cause less than substantial 

harm without public benefit to outweigh the harm to the Church of St Michael 

(Grade I) and its associated churchyard, walls and railings (Grade II), the grave 

of Mary Anning (Non-Designated Heritage Asset), and to Lyme Regis 

Conservation Area. Given the churchyard is identified as an area of importance 

in the Conservation Area Appraisal, it is also not considered to preserve or 

enhance the character of Lyme Regis Conservation Area. It therefore fails to 

comply with Local Plan Policies ENV4, ENV10 and ENV12 of the West Dorset, 

Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) and is not in accordance with 

paragraphs 199-200 and 202-203 of Section 16 of the NPPF. 

2. Having regard to the location and elevation of the platform at 55 Church Street 

and the extent of views provided by the platform into properties to the north and 

south, the retention of the raised decking and platform would enable an 

unacceptable degree of noise, activity and overlooking and be overbearing to 

properties immediately neighbouring it (54 and 55a Church Street) to the 

significant detriment of the residential amenity of those properties and would 

Page 37



therefore not be in accordance with Policy ENV16 of the West Dorset, 

Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015). 

Informative Notes: 

1. National Planning Policy Framework 

 In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning 

authority, takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused 

on providing sustainable development.  The council works with 

applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:  

 - offering a pre-application advice service, and – 

 - as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in 

the processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions.         

 In this case:   

 -The applicant/ agent did not take the opportunity to enter into pre-application 

discussions.                            

-The applicant was advised that the proposal did not accord with the 
development plan and that there were no material planning considerations to 
outweigh these concerns.     

   

2. The plans that were considered by the Council in making this decision are: 

 Location Plan DWG 27-01 

 Elevations DWG 27-03 

 Site/Garden Plan DWG 27-04 

                   

 
 
 

Page 38



Application Number: 
P/FUL/2022/05777 

Webpage: 
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/ 

Site address: 7 Custom House Quay Weymouth Dorset DT4 8BE 

Proposal:  Install large doors to ground floor and replacement windows 

Applicant name: 
Mr Allen 

Case Officer: 
Jo Langrish-Merritt 

Ward Member(s): Cllr Orrell 

 
 
 

1.0 This application has been brought to committee at the request of the Service 
Manager for Development Management and Enforcement following a member 
request via the scheme of delegation consultation. 

2.0 Summary of recommendation: 

Grant  

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:  

Following negotiations with the applicant the initial proposals have been amended to 
just include the installation of a new ground floor single door and replacement of 
windows. Whilst the modern windows would be significantly different to the existing 
windows the proposals are not considered to cause harm to the character and 
appearance of the building or harm to the wider Conservation Area. The proposals 
would match the previously allowed windows on the other section of the restaurant 
which were considered by a Planning Inspector at appeal to be in keeping with the 
variety of styles in the area. 
 
4.0 Key planning issues  
 

Issue Conclusion 

Impact on Conservation area Following extensive negotiations, the amended 
proposal is considered to be acceptable. Whilst 
it is accepted that the proposal would result in 
the loss of the existing more traditional 
windows, the proposed windows would match 
those approved by the Planning Inspector on 
the other half of the building.   

5.0 Description of Site 

The application site is located on the northern side of Weymouth Harbour. There is a 

restaurant and café on the ground floor and part of the first floor. A residential flat 

covers the other half of the first floor and the second floor. The property is made of 

two distinct buildings. No.7 is a 3-storey building, typical of the traditional 

harbourside dwellings. To left-hand side is the Quayside 

Bar and Restaurant. This commercial premises is combined with No.7 internally 

Page 39

Agenda Item 6b



however from the external view reads a separate building form. No.6 has warehouse 

proportions, 2 storeys wide fronted with a loft hatch which still retains its pully hook. 

In contrast, No. 7 architectural form and scale is traditional with a reduction in sash 

window size as you go up the floors and a ‘cambered’ bay window at first floor. The 

building is simple in design with rendered walls, pitched slate roof and brick 

chimneys. All these details indicate a dwelling house rather than a warehouse. No 6 

has already benefitted from new windows and doors allowed at appeal. 

The application site is not a Listed Building itself but is adjacent to the Custom 

House which is a Grade II listed building and also Old Fish Market which is also 

Grade II.  

The site is located within Weymouth Conservation Area (designated heritage asset). 
It is recognised as an Important Local Building within the Weymouth Town Centre 
Conservation Area. The Weymouth Town Centre Conservation Area appraisal states 
‘Vaughan’s, 6&7 Custom House Quay, a much-altered pair with warehouse elements 
and a canted bay on No. 7; solid part of a Harbourside group.’ Originally the building 
was a warehouse, now converted to restaurant use. The building sits within a 
prominent quayside location and is therefore a building of local importance as a non-
designated heritage asset.  
 
No 6 has already benefitted from a previous appeal decision WP/21/00180/FUL for 

the replacement of former windows and doors on both ground and first floors on the 

front elevation (retrospective) (Allowed at appeal). 

6.0 Description of Development 

The original proposal was to install large doors to ground floor with balcony to 

second floor and rear. A number of concerns were raised regarding this proposal 

and the potential impact on the neighbouring properties through loss of privacy, 

overlooking, noise and disturbance. The proposed changes to the window 

arrangements and the appearance of the balcony at the front was also considered to 

have a significant impact on the character and appearance of the building and the 

wider Conservation Area. Following advice, the applicant has amended the scheme 

several times. The amended scheme now for determination consists of a new single 

door at the ground floor with replacement windows above. These replacement 

windows would be grey aluminium vertical frames and would replace the existing 

more traditional white windows. Bi-folding doors are no longer proposed at ground 

floor.  

 

7.0 Relevant Planning History 

WP/21/00180/FUL - Decision: REF - Decision Date: 21/05/2021 

Replacement of former windows and doors on both ground and first floors on the 

front elevation (retrospective) (Allowed at appeal) 

Page 40



 

P/COU/2021/04579 - Decision: WIT - Decision Date: 14/02/2022 

Change of use of part of ground floor from cafe to living accommodation in 

conjunction with the accommodation above 

   

8.0 List of Constraints 

Setting CUSTOM HOUSE List Entry: 1272115.0 

Weymouth Town Centre Conservation Area  

Important Local Buildings 

Legal Agreements S106  

Areas Susceptible to Groundwater Flooding 

Natural England Designation - RAMSAR: Chesil Beach & the Fleet  

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (5km buffer): Chesil & The Fleet 

Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) (400m buffer) 

Flood Zone 3  

 

9.0 Consultations 

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 
 

Consultees  

Comments received in relation to the previous schemes.  

1. Conservation Officers- Object 

Comments received 02/01/23 

Replacement Windows – the existing windows are timber sash, typical of local 

buildings and which greatly contribute to the building and to the Conservation 

Area. The replacement of these with single pane windows would alter the façade 

of this typical merchant house causing harm to this non designated heritage 

asset. Large Doors to Ground Floor - The replacement of the existing Georgian 

sash windows with bifold doors is out of keeping with the historic maritime 

surroundings and would change the buildings appearance significantly. 

There does not appear to be any justification regarding the style and choice of 

window and how this responds to the significance of either the Conservation Area 

or the locally important building. The proposed large doors appear to have heavy 

frames and alteration to the historic window proportions and openings. 

The overly large and heavy proposed openings at ground would change the 

Page 41



buildings appearance significantly. The proposed large doors would appear 

discordant with the original form of this historic building. The alterations to the 

ground floor windows to doors would unbalance the building and 

change the window to wall ratio therefore losing the historic character. 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

Due to the location of the property within the Conservation Area, the 

unsustainable qualities of the material and the negative impact the large doors 

and replacement windows would have to the architectural character and 

appearance of both the host dwelling and the Conservation Area, it is determined 

that the installation would detrimentally harm the special character and local 

distinctiveness of the Conservation Area. Although this level of harm would be 

less than substantial, no wider public benefits have been provided to outweigh 

this harm. The large doors and replacement windows by way of their design, 

style, colouring and detailing would neither preserve or enhance the character 

and appearance of the Weymouth Town Centre Conservation Area and give rise 

to less than substantial harm which is not outweighed by public benefits 

2. Melcombe Regis Ward-Object  

Comments received 5/10/23 on initial scheme- Cllr Orell 

I object on the grounds of adverse impact to a conservation area. The proposed 

doors and balcony are modern and not in keeping with the surrounding buildings at 

all. The doors on the neighbouring restaurant were installed without prior planning 

permission and should not be taken as a reason for perpetuating the adverse impact 

to the historic harbour conservation area. 

3. Weymouth Town Council – Object  

Comments received on initial scheme 5/10/22 WTC 

This planning application has been considered by members of the Planning and 

Licensing Committee. The Council objects to the application on the grounds of the 

negative impact this will have on a historic conservation area, and the design and 

visual appearance, which is not in keeping with the rest of this area. 

Comments received on subsequently amended scheme but not the most 

recent amendment- 30/11/22 WTC  

This planning application has been considered by members of the Planning and 

Licensing Committee. The Council objects to the application on the grounds of the 

changes having a negative impact on the Conservation Area it is within. The design 

is not in keeping with the historic appearance of the building nor of the surrounding 

buildings. 

4. Third Party Representations received  

Page 42



Two letters of objection were received in regarding the initial scheme 

Comments received 13/10/22 

We wish to object strongly to this planning application.  We consider that these 

proposals would seriously harm the appearance of this building, which is situated in 

a most sensitive location at the centre of an important group on Weymouth’s historic 

harbourside.   

While not listed itself, No. 7 Custom House Quay is typical of the traditional 

harbourside houses, making a contribution to the character of the Conservation 

Area.  Its architecture is appropriate to its setting and as a neighbour building to the 

historic Custom House.   The alterations would in our view have a detrimental effect 

on the Custom House, described by Eric Ricketts in ‘The Buildings of Old Weymouth’ 

as ‘one of our best Georgian houses’ and particularly highlighted in the Conservation 

Area Character Appraisal.    

The appearance of this area has already been seriously affected by the totally 

changed windows and doors of the linked building to the west.  The proposed 

alterations to No. 7 would exacerbate this effect, and we feel strongly that any further 

harm to the appearance of Weymouth’s historic harbourside must be avoided.    

Comments received 22/10/22 

7 Custom House is a traditional harbourside merchant’s house.  It was, like 

Amsterdam’s ‘koopmanshuizen’ not just a residence but also a warehouse.  (As, of 

course, was the adjacent Custom House). 

It still retains the hoist block above what was the loading door on the first floor which 

has now sadly become just a window.  It is not clear if the bay window is original but 

it is again quite traditional on the harbourside, either as an original feature or as a 

modification. (No.1 Trinity Road is a good example of later modification). 

In its current form the building is rather bland and has a mishmash of wooden and 

plastic windows.  I therefore sympathise with the owner’s desire to smarten up the 

building and to emulate the fantastic work that has recently been carried out on the 

nearby Deheers building. 

However, while the Deheers improvements were in keeping with the traditional style 

of the building, the plans proposed here completely destroy the traditional 

appearance: 

1) They are drastically changing the door and window openings. 

2) The second floor balcony doesn’t acknowledge anything. (If they want to maintain 

the traditional feel they might consider putting a small balcony below the loading 

door on the first floor, and it would be great to reinstate a door in this position). 

Page 43



3) The dark grey framed windows have an ‘industrial’ look and work well on the brick 

Deheers building.  They would, however, be completely out of style on the light 

rendered frontage here.  Either the owners should consider removing the render or 

they should stick with white frames. (I would not be fussy about what material is used 

particularly given maintenance and sustainability requirements). 

This building is: 

a) In the Conservation Area 

b) Immediately adjacent to the Grade 2 listed Custom House, which is considered to 

be the best, or at least one of the best, preserved Georgian buildings in the town. (It 

really should be Grade 2* listed). 

c) In a most prominent position on the harbourside, and 

d) In a grouping which is specifically noted in the Conservation Area Appraisal and 

which was commended by local historian, Eric Ricketts. 

I must therefore object strongly to the application.  If such changes are allowed to 

this building we may as well just give up on the Conservation Area. 

 

One subsequent objection has been received in relation to the most recent 
scheme. 

Comments received 07/2/23 

We have seen the further amended plans registered on the 19th January 2023. 

While we are pleased to see an improvement in the design from the earlier plans, 

including the deletion of the bifold doors, our views remain as before. We would 

still prefer to see the fenestration retained in the present style, with sliding sash 

windows having central glazing bars, appropriate to the period and character of the 

house, especially in this location adjacent to the historic Custom House. 

We also still consider that the colour of the frames as seen on the adjacent building 

would be too dark. In our view the current white frames delineate the windows 

well, while the light grey walls provide a good contrast to the white paintwork of the 

adjacent building, differentiating between the two and retaining the separate 

identity of this building. 

We ask that both these comments and our representation of the 13th October 2022 

are taken into account in decision taking on this planning application 

10.0 Relevant Policies 

Adopted West Dorset and Weymouth & Portland Local Plan: 

 

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this proposal:    

• INT1- Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

Page 44



• ENV1 – Landscape, seascape & sites of other geological interest 

• EVN2 – Wildlife & habitats  

• ENV4 – Heritage assets 

• ENV5 – Flood risk 

• ENV10 - The landscape and townscape setting  

• ENV 12 – The design and positioning of buildings  

• ENV14 – Shopfronts & advertisements 

• ENV 16 – Amenity  

 
Neighbourhood Plans  

Weymouth Neighbourhood Plan - In preparation – limited weight applied to decision 

making. 

National Planning Policy Framework: 

Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 
policies are out-of-date then permission should be granted unless any adverse 
impacts of approval would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the NPPF or specific policies in the NPPF indicate development 
should be restricted. 

 

Relevant NPPF sections include: 

Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should be 

approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 

policies are out-of-date then permission should be granted unless any adverse 

impacts of approval would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 

when assessed against the NPPF or specific policies in the NPPF indicate 

development should be restricted. 

Other relevant NPPF sections include: 

• Section 4. Decision taking: Para 38 - Local planning authorities should 
approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. 
They should use the full range of planning tools available…and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at 
every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development 
where possible.  

• Section 12 ‘Achieving well designed places indicates that all development to be 
of a high quality in design, and the relationship and visual impact of it to be 
compatible with the surroundings. In particular, and amongst other things, 
Paragraphs 126 – 136 advise that: 

Page 45



The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people. 

It is important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive 
design for all development, including individual buildings, public and private 
spaces and wider area development schemes. 

Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it 
fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.  

• Section 14 ‘Meeting the challenges of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change’  

• Section 16 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment’- When 
considering designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation, irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance 
(para 199). The effect of an application on the significance of non-designated 
heritage assets should also be taken into account (para 203). 

 

Other Material Considerations 

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance 

Urban Design (SPG3) 

Listed Building and Conservation Area (SPG2) 

Weymouth Town Centre Masterplan (2015) 

Conservation Area Appraisals: 

Weymouth Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal 
 
Duties 
 
Duty under section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 to have special regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting 
or any features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses. 

 
 Duty under section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 to pay  special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of buildings or other land in the conservation area.  

 
11.0 Human rights  

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 

The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property. 

Page 46



This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 

 
12.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty  

As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty. With regard to the proposed 
alterations to the building the proposal would create a more accessible café space 
with an additional entrance.  Disadvantages have been minimised by providing 
easier access to this public space. 

 
13.0 Financial benefits  

 
Non material considerations 
The proposal would support the existing business by upgrading the existing windows 
and doors and providing an additional access creating a more inviting and vibrant 
space. In doing so it would support the general economy any potential employment 
associated the ongoing business. 
 
There will be also some short-term employment benefits created from the works to 
the building, but this would be minimal. 
 

 
14.0 Climate Implications 
 Upgrading the windows would ensure the building is more energy efficient and more 

sustainable for the environment. 
 

15.0 Planning Assessment 
 

Impact on the Conservation Area 
The application site is not a Listed Building itself but is adjacent to the Custom 

House which is a Grade II listed building and also Old Fish Market which is also 

Grade II.  

The site is, however, located within Weymouth Conservation Area and is recognised 

as an Important Local Building and a non-designated heritage asset.   

Page 47



As detailed above this represents a much-altered scheme. The proposed 

replacement windows would be grey aluminium and would replace the existing more 

traditional white windows. Bi-folding doors are no longer proposed at ground floor 

only a single door to match the existing on the left-hand side of the building.  

Whilst the modern style, darker replacement windows and doors would be 

significantly different to the existing white windows given the recent appeal decision 

for the ground floor windows the proposals would be in keeping with the ‘allowed’ 

ground floor windows. 

During the previous appeal the Inspector commented about the change to the colour 

and the design of the windows: 

“As is the case with their architectural design, the windows of the buildings 

along the Quayside are also varied, with a number of properties having more 

modern openings to reflect their commercial uses, particularly on the ground 

floor. The predominate colour of windows is white, however there are a 

number of instances where darker colours and more modern materials have 

been used. Whilst a number of buildings are characterised by the presence of 

more traditional window designs, I do not consider this style to be the 

predominate characteristic, but instead the character to be one of a variety of 

style and type. 

Whilst the style, design and colour of the replacement windows may be 

different to that of other buildings along Custom Quay, due to the existing 

variety, I do not necessarily find that this results in harm to the WCA” 

In view of the recent appeal decision, the proposed replacement windows are not 

considered to cause harm to the Conservation Area. The windows to the upper floors 

are not the original timber windows and their replacement is not considered to harm 

the character and appearance of the building and would be in keeping with the 

varied character of the area. Therefore, it is considered that the proposed 

replacement windows are acceptable and would not significantly impact on the 

character and appearance of the building or the wider Conservation Area which will 

be preserved.  

It is considered that the proposal would result in no harm to the Conservation Area,  

no harm to the setting of the surrounding Listed Buildings and no harm or loss to the 

significance of the building itself as a non-designated heritage asset due to the 

varied character of the windows along this section of the Weymouth Harbourside and 

as the proposal would be visually coherent with the appeal building. 

 

Amenity 

The previous proposals including the proposed front and rear balconies have been 

withdrawn from the application. 

Page 48



The amended proposal would be for replacement windows and an additional door on 

the ground floor. There would be no additional window openings and the windows 

would be of a similar scale to the existing. As such the proposals are not considered 

to result in any additional overlooking. The proposed ground floor door would match 

the existing door and would provide additional access into the café area. Whilst there 

may be some additional comings and goings from the new entrance this is not 

considered to be so significant as to warrant refusal.   

 

Flooding 

The site is located adjacent to Weymouth Harbour and within flood zone 3. However, 

as the proposals would be replacing existing windows and creating a doorway, no 

additional floor space would be created. Therefore, the proposals are not considered 

to increase flooding in the area.  

 

Biodiversity 

The site falls within the RAMSAR Chesil and Fleet.  

Natural England have advised that development which results in an increase in 

population within 5km of the Chesil Beach and the Fleet European site may 

contribute to an unacceptable increase in recreational pressures on the features of 

the designated area. 

However, the proposal is not for additional overnight accommodation and as such 

will have no additional impact on the RAMSAR Chesil and Fleet. 

 

16.0 Conclusion   

It is acknowledged that the replacement modern windows would be significantly 

different to the existing windows with a vertical emphasis and darker aluminium 

frames. Notwithstanding that the replacement windows and the addition of the 

ground floor door are not considered to result in harm to the Conservation Area, 

surrounding listed building or the building itself as a non-designated heritage asset 

as they would be in keeping with the varied character of windows in the area. 

Furthermore, the proposed windows would match the previously allowed windows on 

the other section of the restaurant in colour, style and materials which were 

considered to be acceptable by the Planning Inspector. 

 

17.0 Recommendation  

Grant subject to the following conditions:  
 
1.The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than the 
expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission. 

Page 49



 
Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 
 
2.The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans: 
 
Location Plan and Block Plan 2904:352/001 
Proposed floor plans and elevations 2904:352/002C 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 
 
3. All windows and doors hereby approved shall be constructed of aluminium and 
shall be grey in colour and shall thereafter be retained as such. 
 
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance of the development. 
 

 

 

Page 50



Application Number: 
P/FUL/2023/00134      

Webpage: 
Planning application: P/FUL/2023/00134 - dorsetforyou.com 
(dorsetcouncil.gov.uk)  

Site address: 13 Clarence House, West Bay Road, West Bay, DT6 4EN 

Proposal:  Change of use of land to outdoor dining/seating area, 
construction of low retaining wall 

Applicant name: 
Guppy 

Case Officer: 
Charlotte Loveridge 

Ward Member(s): Cllr Bolwell; Cllr Clayton; Cllr Williams  

 
 
 

1.0 The application relates to land that is in Dorset Council ownership and the 
application is therefore being reported to Committee in accordance with Dorset 
Council’s Constitution. 

2.0 Summary of recommendation: 

 Refuse for the following reasons: 

 

 1. Although the incorporation of further benches for visitors to sit and eat will provide 
convenience and overall bring benefit to the local economy, overall it is considered 
that this scheme results in less than substantial harm to the designated heritage 
assets of the Grade II listed Clarence House, Methodist Church, Bridport Arms Hotel 
and The Bay House, that is not outweighed by those public benefits and the scheme 
also fails to preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the West Bay 
Conservation Area.  This concern is further supported by the pre-text to policy 
ENV11 (The Pattern of Streets & Spaces) of the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth & 
Portland Local Plan (2015) which states ‘Works to the public realm within the historic 
environment should positively contribute to local character and identity’  The lack of 
greenery is stated as a weakness of the area in the Supplementary Planning 
Document ‘A Vision for West Bay – Regeneration Framework (2003)’ so any 
reduction in the existing green areas should not be encouraged and this scheme 
would result in a reduction. As such, the scheme is contrary to policies ENV4, 
ENV10 and ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015); 
policies D1, D8, HT2 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan (2020) and 
paragraphs 200 and 202 of Section 16 of the NPPF (2021). 

 

2. The scheme seeks to replace a clearly visual public access with an access that is 
restrictive, not suitable for all users, less legible for the public and likely to introduce 
a conflict between pedestrians and vehicular traffic to the detriment of highway 
safety as it will encourage pedestrians, wheelchair & buggy users to go through the 
carpark to be able to get to the Discovery Centre and east beach and as such it is 
considered that it would have a negative impact on the qualities of the public realm. 
Therefore, it fails to comply with policy ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & 

Page 51

Agenda Item 6c

https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=393543
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=393543


Portland Local Plan (2015), Policies AM1 & AM3 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood 
Plan (2020) and Section 9 para 112 of the NPPF (2021) that says development 
proposals should “create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which 
minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid 
unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and design standards.”.  

 

3.0 Reason for the recommendation: 

• Significant visual change in formalising the mound to a raised seating area 
with formalised paths, natural timber post & rope fencing as well as stone 
walling. 

• Less than substantial harm to setting of designated heritage assets and non 
designated heritage assets not outweighed by public benefit.  The 
Conservation Area character and appearance is not preserved or enhanced. 

• Does not provide suitable replacement access that is wide enough for 
wheelchair users and members of the public to easily pass & re-pass as they 
do using the mound as currently. 

• Will reduce public legibility of the access and navigating the public space to 
recreational/public facilities. 

4.0 Key planning issues  

 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of development Principle support for the scheme is provided by 
policies SUS2 & COM4 of the West Dorset, 
Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) which 
all seek to support recreational uses in 
appropriate locations. 

Scale, design, impact on character and 
appearance 

The raised nature of the mound compounds the 
overall significant visual impact of this scheme, 
detrimentally impacting on character & 
appearance contrary to policies ENV10 & 
ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & 
Portland Local Plan (2015). 

Impact on amenity Visual amenity is negatively impacted from the 
highly visual, visual clutter this scheme 
represents within the Conservation Area. 

 

The use of the area for informal sitting out has 
taken place for a number of years with no 
significant concerns raised in regards to 
neighbouring amenity.  As such, it is considered 
on balance that neighbouring amenity impact is 
acceptable in accordance with ENV16 West 
Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 
(2015). 

 

Page 52



Impact on landscape or heritage assets Given the siting and small scale nature of the 
proposal, the wider natural beauty of the AONB 
is protected in accordance with policy ENV1 
West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 
(2015). 

 

The scheme results in less than substantial 
harm to the setting of designated heritage 
assets not outweighed by public benefit.  The 
Conservation Area character and appearance is 
not preserved or enhanced contrary to policy 
ENV4 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & 
Portland Local Plan (2015). 

 

Economic benefits The incorporation of further benches for visitors 
to sit and eat will provide convenience and 
overall bring benefit to the local economy. 

 

Access and Parking It is considered that the scheme will reduce 
accessibility to the detriment of the public 
contrary to policy ENV11 as it will remove the 
separate pedestrian access route across the 
mound.  It will not alter vehicular routes or 
parking ability in the vicinity. 

5.0 Description of Site 

5.1 The application site is situated within the centre of West Bay on the eastern side of 
the harbour, approximately 39m south east of the Harbour slipway.  It is within the 
central core of the West Bay Conservation Area and sits adjacent to several 
designated heritage assets (Clarence House Grade II listed, Methodist Church 
Grade II listed and at a greater distance the Bridport Arms Hotel Grade II listed and 
The Bay House also Grade II listed) as well as being within the defined development 
boundary, AONB, flood zones 2 and 3 and high risk groundwater area. 

 
5.2 Thought to have been originally created as a flood defence, the mound has served 

as an informal footway leading from the harbourside to east beach potentially for the 
last 100 years as seen by historical photos.  It forms a grass topped mound with a 
worn stone/earth pathway over its top and whilst initially it was all natural material, a 
stone work wall has since been built along its western side (adjacent to the car park), 
partially along its eastern side and on its north side with three steps allowing 
members of the public to access the path. Next to the steps is a worn natural slope 
that provides informal ramped access for those requiring wheeled accessibility over 
the mound.  The height of the mound varies, approximately being 0.8m above the 
car park directly adjacent to the west and varying to that height above the Clarence 
House access way that runs along its eastern boundary. 
 

6.0 Description of Development 

Page 53



6.1 This scheme seeks to formalise the use of the mound as an outdoor eating/seating 
area and enclosing the seating space on the top by additional stone walling and 
roped fencing. Pedestrian access will not run the extent of the mound with the 
current north side steps blocked off by new walling; a new ramped access will be 
formed on the eastern side of the new enclosed seating area.   

6.2 The seating area will be approximately 19.48m2 and will enable six benches to be 
sited instead of the current 4 permitted by an outdoor seating licence.  A new 
ramped access 1.35m wide will extend on the lower ground below the eastern side 
of the mound at a gradient of 1:12; this ramped access will be the main public 
pathway onto the south western end of the mound to continue to access east beach, 
the Discovery Centre and public toilets. 

 

7.0 Relevant Planning History   

 

P/FUL/2022/04543 - Decision: Withdrawn - Decision Date: 18/08/2022 
Change of use of land to outdoor dining/seating area, construction of a low retaining 
wall 

8.0 List of Constraints 

Grade: II Listed Building: CLARENCE HOUSE List Entry: 1279413.0; - Distance: 
13.75 

Grade: II Listed Building: FOUNTAIN ON THE NORTH WALL OF NO 11 List Entry: 
1228721.0; - Distance: 18.3 

Grade: II Listed Building: THE OLD CUSTOM HOUSE List Entry: 1228720.0; - 
Distance: 19.5 

West Bay Conservation Area  

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty; Dorset  

Defined Development Boundary; Bridport  

Neighbourhood Plan - Made; Name: Bridport Area NP; Status 'Made' 05/05/2020; 

Risk of Groundwater Emergence; Groundwater levels are between 0.025m and 0.5m 
below the ground surface.; Within this zone there is a risk of groundwater flooding to 
both surface and subsurface assets. There is the possibility of groundwater 
emerging at the surface locally.; - Distance: 0 

Dorset Council Land (Freehold) 

Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (5km buffer): Chesil & The Fleet (UK0017076); - 
Distance: 79.99 

Flood Zone 3  

Flood Zone 2  

 

Within the West Bay Conservation Area (statutory duties to preserve or enhance the 

significance of heritage assets under the Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990) 

Page 54



 

Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty: (statutory protection in order to conserve and 
enhance the natural beauty of their landscapes - National Parks and Access to the 
Countryside Act of 1949 & Countryside and Rights of Way Act, 2000)  

9.0 Consultations 

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 

Consultees 

1. Highways – No objections raised but would advise the path is widened to 

2.0m and a gradient of 1:20 and to consult with Rights of Way. 

2. Bridport TC - Object. The width of the proposed path is unsuitable, and 

compromises access and safety. Rights over the existing path have been 

established by custom and practice, and its loss, coupled with the inadequate 

replacement, will adversely affect access to West Bay Discovery Centre, the 

public conveniences, and the beach. 

3. Env. Services – Protection - It is recommended that a condition be applied 

limiting the hours of use of the land, for the development as proposed, to 0800 

– 1900 daily. 

4. Conservation Officer – Results in less than substantial harm to the West 

Bay Conservation Area and the setting of designated heritage assets not 

outweighed by public benefit.  

5. Historic England - The proposal is for the use of a raised bank of land ahead 
of the East front to Clarence House (GII listed) as a café terrace. The site is 
within the Bridport Harbour (West Bay) Conservation Area. The Grade II* 
listed Norman Goods warehouse complex is nearby, but in our opinion these 
proposals will not impact on the setting of that building. Part of the character 
and appearance of the West Bay conservation area is derived from its open 
townscape character. There are broad areas of loose gravel and shingle 
between buildings, giving this part of town the appearance of a settlement that 
is resting on the beach. While we think that your internal conservation 
advisors are best placed to advise on the detail of this application, care will be 
needed to ensure that the proposed terrace does not impact on the open, and 
informal, character of the conservation area. 

 

6. Flood risk team – No objection.  Acceptable use in Flood Zone 3, no 
prevailing surface water issues and unlikely risk from groundwater issues.  
Nothing to indicate it would exacerbate any flooding issues in that location. 

 

Representations received  

 

Total - Objections Total -  No Objections Total - Comments 

Page 55



9 1 0 
 

Petitions Objecting Petitions Supporting 

0 0 

  

 Concerns raised (9 letters) include: 

• Will impede safe access to the Discovery Centre, Beach and toilets by not 
visually leading people. 

• Out of keeping within the Conservation Area and will alter the character of the 
embankment. 

• Insufficient width to ensure access for all. 

• Adverse impact to neighbouring amenity. 

• Will encourage gulls and other public health issues. 

 

One letter of support: 

• These are local people running a successful local Business employing local 
people. Not a national chain. This application should be allowed it enhances 
and improves the area. Previously just a grass wasteland unkept and not 
used. It's sympathetic and unimposing with the area. Outside facilities are in 
short supply in West Bay especially in such a lovely open space previously 
unused. 

  

10.0 Relevant Policies 

Adopted West Dorset and Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015):  

The following policies are considered to be relevant to this proposal:    

• INT1 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

• ENV1 - Landscape, seascape & sites of other geological interest  

• ENV2  - Wildlife and habitats 

• ENV4 - Heritage assets 

• ENV5 - Flood risk 

• ENV10 - The landscape and townscape setting  

• ENV11 - The pattern of streets & spaces 

• ENV 16 - Amenity  

• SUS2 - Distribution of development 

• COM7 - Creating a safe & efficient transport network  
 

Neighbourhood Plans  

Bridport Neighbourhood Plan 2020-2036 (made 5/5/2020) 

Page 56



POLICY HT2 Public Realm 
POLICY L2 Biodiversity 
POLICY D1 Harmonising with the Site 
POLICY D8 Contributing to the local character 
POLICY AM1 Promotion of Active Travel modes 
POLICY AM3 Footpath & Cycle path Network 
 
Material Considerations: 
 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021): 

Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 

Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should be 

approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent or relevant 

policies are out-of-date then permission should be granted unless any adverse 

impacts of approval would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits 

when assessed against the NPPF or specific policies in the NPPF indicate 

development should be restricted. 

Relevant NPPF sections include: 

• Section 4. Decision taking: Para 38 - Local planning authorities should 
approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. 
They should use the full range of planning tools available…and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers at 
every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable development 
where possible.  

• Section 6 ‘Building a strong, competitive economy’, paragraphs 84 and 
85  'Supporting a prosperous rural economy' promotes the sustainable growth 
and expansion of  all types of business and enterprise in rural areas, through 
conversion of existing buildings, the erection of well-designed new buildings, 
and supports sustainable tourism and leisure developments where identified 
needs are not met by existing rural service centres. 

• Section 9 ‘Promoting Sustainable Transport’ Para 111. Development should 
only be prevented or refused on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on 
the road network would be severe.  Para 112. Within this context, applications 
for development should: a) give priority first to pedestrian and cycle 
movements, both within the scheme and with neighbouring areas; and second 
– so far as possible – to facilitating access to high quality public transport, with 
layouts that maximise the catchment area for bus or other public transport 
services, and appropriate facilities that encourage public transport use; b) 
address the needs of people with disabilities and reduced mobility in relation to 
all modes of transport; c) create places that are safe, secure and attractive – 
which minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and 
vehicles, avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and 
design standards; 

• Section 11 ‘Making effective use of land’   

Page 57



• Section 12 ‘Achieving well designed places indicates that all development to be 
of a high quality in design, and the relationship and visual impact of it to be 
compatible with the surroundings. In particular, and amongst other things, 
Paragraphs 126 – 136 advise that: 
The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 

environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 

indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 

places better for people. 

It is important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and inclusive 

design for all development, including individual buildings, public and private 

spaces and wider area development schemes. 

Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it 

fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.  

• Section 14 ‘Meeting the challenges of climate change, flooding and coastal 
change’  

• Section 15 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Natural Environment’- In Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty great weight should be given to conserving and 
enhancing the landscape and scenic beauty (para 176). Decisions in Heritage 
Coast areas should be consistent with the special character of the area and the 
importance of its conservation (para 173). Paragraphs 179-182 set out how 
biodiversity is to be protected and encourage net gains for biodiversity. 

• Section 16 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment’- When 
considering designated heritage assets, great weight should be given to the 
asset’s conservation, irrespective of whether any potential harm amounts to 
substantial harm, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance 
(para 199). The effect of an application on the significance of non-designated 
heritage assets should also be taken into account (para 203). 

 

Statutory Duties  

• Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires that special regard be had to the desirability of preserving any 

Listed Building building or its setting or any features of special architectural or 

historic interest which it possesses. 

• Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 

1990 requires that special attention shall be paid to the desirability of 

preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of Conservation Areas. 

• Section 85 of the Countryside and Rights of Way Act (2000) requires that 

regard is had to the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty 

of the AONB. 

Other Material Considerations 

Emerging Local Plans: 

Page 58



Paragraph 48 of the NPPF provides that local planning authorities may give weight 
to relevant policies in emerging plans according to: 
 

• the stage of preparation of the emerging plan (the more advanced its 
preparation, the greater the weight that may be given); 

• the extent to which there are unresolved objections to relevant plan policies 
(the less significant the unresolved objections, the greater the weight that may 
be given); and 

• the degree of consistency of the relevant policies in the emerging plan to the 
NPPF (the closer the policies in the emerging plan are to the policies of the 
NPPF, the greater the weight that may be given).  
 

The Dorset Council Local Plan Options Consultation took place between January 
and March 2021.  Being at a very early stage of preparation, the Draft Dorset Council 
Local Plan should be accorded very limited weight in decision making. 
 
Supplementary Planning Document/Guidance 

All of Dorset: 
Dorset AONB Landscape Character Assessment 
Dorset AONB Management Plan 2019-2024 
 
Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance For West Dorset Area: 
WDDC Design & Sustainable Development Planning Guidelines (2009)  
Landscape Character Assessment February 2009 (West Dorset) 
A Vision for West Bay – Regeneration Framework (2003) 
 
Conservation Area Appraisal: 
West Bay or Bridport Harbour Conservation Area Appraisal (October 2013) 
 
 

11.0 Human rights  

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 

The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property. 

This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the 
application of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any 
third party. 

 
12.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty  

 
12.1 As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 

must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected 
characteristics where these are different from the needs of other people 

Page 59



• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the 
merits of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration 
the requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty. 

12.2 The design proposals do not provide for a safe and suitable access for all and would 
not  

(i) help to advance equality of opportunity; 

 (ii) assist in fostering good relations; and  

 (iii) would have a material adverse impact on individuals or identifiable groups with 
protected characteristics. 

 

13.0 Financial benefits  
 

13.1 Short term construction employment.  General economy benefits from providing 
convenience for business patrons to sit and consume food/drink. 

 
14.0 Environmental Implications 

 
A biodiversity checklist was submitted for the application but did not trigger the 
requirement for any additional surveys to be carried out.  It is not considered that the 
proposals would have any environmental implications. 
 

15.0 Planning Assessment 
 
15.1 Principle of development: 

 
Principle support for the scheme is provided by policy SUS2 of the West Dorset, 
Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) which seeks to support appropriate 
development within defined development boundaries. However, this is also subject 
to other material considerations. 
 

15.2 Planning history: 
 

Planning permission is not required for the current use of the mound to site 4 picnic 
benches given that they are temporary moveable structures.  However, a sitting out 
licence does apply and was applied for and granted two years ago by Bridport Town 
Council to provide external seating during the COVID 19 pandemic.  This 
arrangement has continued and is a material consideration when considering this 
scheme in terms of the fallback position. 
 

15.3 Impact on heritage assets: 
 

The application site is situated in the middle of the historic core of West Bay.  Its 
location next to, and at varying distances from, various designated heritage assets 
as well as being within the Conservation Area (another designated heritage asset) 

Page 60



and adjacent to one of the main public car parks means that any alterations and 
changes to the mound will be highly visual and seen in the context of the 
historic/traditional and characterful built form surrounding it. 
 

15.4 Given its mostly natural composition being grass topped with a worn path and the 
aging nature of the low stone walls that support it like many other green spaces 
weaved around West Bay, the mound has provided useful purpose as an essential 
safe access route to separate pedestrians from the car park but has remained 
visually inconspicuous in its historic setting.  

 
15.5 Whilst four timber picnic benches are currently in situ, given the licence that has 

been granted, they already appear as visual clutter set in front of the listed Clarence 
House given their utilitarian nature and the raised height and undulation of the 
mound so they are naturally more prominent.  This impact is only limited by the fact 
there are only four benches (which are supposed to be packed away each evening 
at 23:00hrs) and the rest of the mound remains in its long standing mostly natural 
form with informal public access. 

 
15.6 Therefore, this proposal to introduce more utilitarian picnic benches, flooring for the 

bench locations, timber posts and protective roping to formalise the seating area 
overall and enclose the mound, still at height, further enhances the visual intrusion of 
these types of basic structures but also the change to the land.  It will ultimately 
change the area of ground and accessway from one that is informal and functional 
but blends in and doesn’t intrude in the setting of designated heritage assets to a 
feature that does.  

 
15.7 This concern is shared by both Historic England (HE) and the Council’s 

Conservation Officer as well as some third party objections. Whilst HE have referred 
to local conservation advice, they have commented on the need to take care in the 
consideration of this scheme given the natural way this land adds to the character of 
the Conservation Area and how the proposal will change that impact. The Council’s 
Conservation Officer has expressed their concern noting the historic nature of the 
pathway (being in situ in some form or another for 100 years) to be removed, the 
enclosure of the space and further utilitarian structures to be erected to formalise this 
raised seating area.  The proposal is contrary to the Bridport Area Neighbourhood 
Plan which states in the pre-text for Policy D8 (Contributing to the local character) 
that “Development should not obscure important views and sight lines, or 
significantly reduce the impact of local landmark features.”  It is also contrary to 
Neighbourhood Plan Policy HT2 (Public Realm) which states that “Proposals that 
have a negative impact or “harm” the qualities of the public realm as identified in the 
Neighbourhood Characteristics of this plan will not be supported.”  The 
characteristics that are noted for West Bay is that it is almost entirely within a 
Conservation Area. 

 
15.8 Although the incorporation of further benches for visitors to sit and eat will provide 

convenience and overall bring benefit to the local economy, overall it is considered 
that this scheme results in less than substantial harm to the designated heritage 
assets of the Grade II listed Clarence House, Methodist Church, Bridport Arms Hotel 
and The Bay House, which is not outweighed by public benefits and also fails to 
preserve or enhance the character and appearance of the West Bay Conservation 

Page 61



Area. This concern is further supported by the pre-text to policy ENV11 (The Pattern 
of Streets & Spaces) of the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 
(2015) which states ‘Works to the public realm within the historic environment should 
positively contribute to local character and identity’ . The lack of greenery is stated as 
a weakness of the area in the SPD ‘A Vision for West Bay – Regeneration 
Framework (2003)’ so any reduction in the existing green areas should not be 
encouraged and this scheme would result in a reduction. As such, the scheme is 
contrary to policies ENV4, ENV10 and ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & 
Portland Local Plan (2015); policies D1, D8, HT2 of the Bridport Area 
Neighbourhood Plan (2020) and paragraphs 200 and 202 of Section 16 of the NPPF 
(2021). 

 
15.9 Impact on highway safety/public access: 

 
Whilst the pathway across the mound has not been adopted as a formal public right 
of way, historical photos suggest it has been used as a public pathway for 100 years 
approximately with its general form and line remaining the same.  It enables 
members of the public to move away safely from the main car parks in this location 
and to gain access to east beach, the Discovery Centre and public toilets.  The 
mound benefits from being naturally quite wide and not overly steep with both a 
stepped access and natural ramped access which enables persons using wheeled 
buggies/wheelchairs/walkers to cross to the raised level of the beach access but also 
to pass & re-pass without causing conflict with transport users below or obstruct 
other pedestrians significantly. 

 
15.10 This scheme does seek to replace the access that will be lost by the raised seating 

area.  However, this access has been designed so it is narrower (only 1.35m) and at 
a greater gradient (1:12) for longer than 2m which raises concerns in regard to 
inclusivity.  If Building Control legislation applied to this scheme it would be 
unacceptable from their perspective given the suggested width, gradient and lack of 
suitable landing space along the length of the access.  Concerns over the 
replacement access have been raised by Bridport Town Council on this basis. Policy 
AM1 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan states that providing for pedestrian 
movement is a priority and to “enable safe and convenient access to be provided for 
all people including the disabled.” 

 
15.11 It is considered that the formalisation of a seating area on top of the mound and 

removal of the current access arrangement reduces accessibility and convenience. 
Members of the public will not be able to pass as freely and may not be able to easily 
visually interpret the new access arrangement given it will be located to the rear of 
the seating area leading to more pedestrians having to cross the main car parks.  
Whilst the applicant has stated that the existing path can be a hazard, this is clearly 
at a low incidence rate given the amount of general public crossing it on a daily basis 
and that no works have been undertaken by the landowner (Dorset Council) to make 
changes to it. 

 
15.12 The scheme seeks to replace a clearly visual public access with an access that is 

restrictive, not suitable for all users, less legible for the public and likely to introduce 
a conflict between pedestrians and vehicular traffic to the detriment of highway 
safety as it will encourage pedestrians, wheelchair & buggy users to go through the 

Page 62



carpark to be able to get to the Discovery Centre and east beach  It is considered 
that it would have a negative impact on the qualities of the public realm. Therefore, it 
fails policy to comply with Policy ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland 
Local Plan (2015), Policies AM1 & AM3 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan 
(2020) and Section 9 para 112 of the NPPF (2021) that says development proposals 
should “create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which minimise the 
scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, avoid unnecessary 
street clutter, and respond to local character and design standards.”.  

 
  
15.13 Flooding:  
 
 A consultation with Flood Risk Management gave the informal view that there is no 

objection given the existing use and the stone wall and that it would not be 
proportionate to require a Flood Risk Assessment despite it being a change of use 
within Flood Zones 2 & 3.  There is nothing to indicate that it would exacerbate any 
flooding issues in the location and it is an acceptable use in Flood Zone 3.  There are 
no prevailing surface water issues and although it is adjacent to an area of 
groundwater levels between 0.025m and 0.5m below the ground level (high/medium 
risk) it is considered unlikely to be a risk as it would likely drain away.  

 
15.14 Amenity: 
  
 Whilst a concern has been raised about neighbouring amenity, this is generalised 

rather than about specific impacts to any particular property.  Whether the seating 
area was formalised or not, members of the public can still informally use the space 
for eating/drinking. Environmental Health has been consulted and suggested a 
condition limiting use of the seating area to be only between the hours of 08:00 and 
19:00 daily. 

 
15.15 The land has been used for the past two years with the presence of four picnic 

benches in situ with no objections from the adjacent properties, therefore it is 
considered that the existing scheme’s impact is acceptable in terms of neighbouring 
amenity. 

 

15.16  In terms of visual amenity, for the same reasons already outlined as visual harm to 
the setting of designated heritage assets and the Conservation Area, it is considered 
that this scheme will result in visual clutter and further reduce greenery within West 
Bay.  The lack of greenery and run down feel of West Bay was noted within the 
adopted ‘A Vision for West Bay – Regeneration Framework (2003)’ and this scheme 
would not assist in improving that. 

 
15.17  Other matters: 
 
 As previously mentioned, the mound can already be used for informal seating or 

utilising the four picnic benches through the sitting out licence for eating/drinking 
purposes without requiring planning permission.  Whilst the issue of seagulls has 
been raised, it is considered that the formalisation of the seating space will not 
unduly enhance seagull attention. 

 

Page 63



15.18 The site does fall within the Chesil & Fleet SPA/SAC/RAMSAR recreation zone of 
influence.  However, as the scheme does not propose overnight accommodation, 
there is no concerns raised or need for mitigation in terms of impact on this 
European site, and it is not considered that the proposals would increase 
recreational pressures on the Chesil & Fleet as the proposal is for a reconfiguration 
of existing land. 
 

16.0 Conclusion 

  It is considered that the overall formalisation of the seating area and change to the 
character and appearance of the space coupled with the introduction of further 
utilitarian form and structures will result in less than substantial harm to the setting of 
designated heritage assets, and not preserve or enhance the character and 
appearance of the West Bay Conservation Area resulting in less than substantial harm 
not outweighed by public benefit.  Furthermore, the formalisation of a seating area on 
top of the mound and the removal of the current access arrangement reduces 
accessibility and convenience and further reduces part of a green space. Members of 
the public will not be able to pass as freely and may not be able to visually interpret 
the new access arrangement easily.  The proposed new public pedestrian access by 
virtue of its width, gradient and extent is designed such that it does not provide access 
for all. 

  

17.0 Recommendation  

Refuse permission for the reasons set out below: 
 

1. Although the incorporation of further benches for visitors to sit and eat will 
provide convenience and overall bring benefit to the local economy, overall it 
is considered that this scheme results in less than substantial harm to the 
designated heritage assets of the Grade II listed Clarence House, Methodist 
Church, Bridport Arms Hotel and The Bay House, that is not outweighed by 
those public benefits and the scheme also fails to preserve or enhance the 
character and appearance of the West Bay Conservation Area.  This concern 
is further supported by the pre-text to policy ENV11 (The Pattern of Streets & 
Spaces) of the adopted West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan (2015) 
which states ‘Works to the public realm within the historic environment should 
positively contribute to local character and identity’  The lack of greenery is 
stated as a weakness of the area in the Supplementary Planning Document ‘A 
Vision for West Bay – Regeneration Framework (2003)’ so any reduction in 
the existing green areas should not be encouraged and this scheme would 
result in a reduction. As such, the scheme is contrary to policies ENV4, 
ENV10 and ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 
(2015); policies D1, D8, HT2 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan (2020) 
and paragraphs 200 and 202 of Section 16 of the NPPF (2021). 
 

2. The scheme seeks to replace a clearly visual public access with an access 
that is restrictive, not suitable for all users, less legible for the public and likely 
to introduce a conflict between pedestrians and vehicular traffic to the 
detriment of highway safety as it will encourage pedestrians, wheelchair & 
buggy users to go through the carpark to be able to get to the Discovery 

Page 64



Centre and east beach and as such it is considered that it would have a 
negative impact on the qualities of the public realm. Therefore, it fails to 
comply with policy ENV11 of the West Dorset, Weymouth & Portland Local 
Plan (2015), Policies AM1 & AM3 of the Bridport Area Neighbourhood Plan 
(2020) and Section 9 para 112 of the NPPF (2021) that says development 
proposals should “create places that are safe, secure and attractive – which 
minimise the scope for conflicts between pedestrians, cyclists and vehicles, 
avoid unnecessary street clutter, and respond to local character and design 
standards.”. 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



Application Number: 
  
P/FUL/2022/07724 

Webpage: 
Planning application: P/FUL/2022/07724 - dorsetforyou.com 
(dorsetcouncil.gov.uk) 

Site address: 16A Albany Road 
Granby Industrial Estate 
Chickerell 
DT4 9TH 

Proposal:  Erect No. 2 Commercial Units to the front of site. 

Applicant name: 
Mr Geoff Buckland 

Case Officer: 
Robert Parr 

Ward Member(s): Cllr Dunseith, Cllr Worth 

 
 
 

1.0 In accordance with the Council’s scheme of delegation this application is brought to 
committee for determination as Dorset Council owns land within the application site.  

2.0 Summary of recommendation: Grant subject to conditions.  

3.0 Reason for the recommendation:  

• Provision of employment. 

• No harm to character, appearance and amenity. 

• No highway or parking concerns identified. 

• No adverse impact on Chesil and the Fleet European Protected Site. 

• There are no material considerations that would warrant refusal of this application. 

4.0 Key planning issues  

 

Issue Conclusion 

Principle of development The proposals are supported in principle as they 
are for employment development within the 
Weymouth Defined Development Boundary.  

Design The proposed design is considered acceptable. 

Highway Safety and Parking No highway concerns identified. 

Wildlife and Habitat Within 5km of Chesil & Fleet Protected Site. 
Assessed to be no adverse effect from 
proposed development.  

Amenity No adverse impact on amenity. 

5.0 Description of Site 

5.1 The application site is located centrally on the Granby Industrial Estate, on the south 
side of Albany Road and to the northern end of the existing commercial unit plot no. 
16 Albany Road. The application site is currently used as a general concrete yard for 
storage.   

Page 67

Agenda Item 6d

https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=392981
https://planning.dorsetcouncil.gov.uk/plandisp.aspx?recno=392981


6.0 Description of Development 

The proposal is for two commercial units that would be formed as one building with 
rectangular planform. The new building would be two storey and have a gable end 
pitched roof. The external materials for the walls would be Marley Eternit Cladding 
colour grey and the roof would be mainly covered in solar panels set into the roof area 
and surrounded by dark grey slate. At the front (north) of the site the existing boundary 
fence would be removed, the highway kerb dropped, and vehicular access created 
along the northern boundary of the site, running across the existing pavement (Dorset 
Council Owned Land). On the flanks of the northern boundary would be located a total 
of 6 new parking bays, 3 for each commercial unit. Cycle parking would be provided 
in the southwest corner of the site and areas allocated for each unit for recycling/waste 
storage. A new chain link boundary fence would be installed to the east and south of 
the building to subdivide the existing plot and the existing gates relocated to the south 
to retain HGV access to the existing commercial unit 16 Albany Road. 

 

7.0 Relevant Planning History   

Application 
No. Proposal Decision 

Decision 
Date 

1/E/89/000508 
Erect single storey extension and construct 
new vehicular access Granted 18/09/1989 

1/E/80/000623 
ERECT STORE FOR BUILDING 
MATERIALS Granted 01/09/1980 

 

8.0 List of Constraints 

SUS2; Defined Development Boundary; Weymouth 
ECON2; Key Employment Site; Granby Industrial Estate, Chickerell 
Chickerell Neighbourhood Plan; Status 'Made' 22/06/2021; 
Right of Way: Footpath S16/24; 
Dorset Council Land 
Natural England Designation - RAMSAR: Chesil Beach & the Fleet -1,219m 
Special Area of Conservation (SAC) (5km buffer): Chesil & The Fleet - 3,899m 
Contaminated Land 

 

9.0 Consultations 

All consultee responses can be viewed in full on the website. 

Consultees 

1. Cllr Dunseith – No comment. 

2. The Highway Authority - No objection, subject to condition(s). 

3. Building Control - Ensure compliance with Building Regulations 2010 Part B4: 

External Fire Spread and Part B5 Access and facilities for the fire service. 

4. Rights of Way Officer – No objection. 

Representations received  

Page 68



None 
 

10.0 Relevant Policies 

West Dorset Weymouth and Portland Local Plan 2015 
 So far as this application is concerned the following policies of the Local Plan are 

considered to be relevant: 

• INT1 - Presumption in favour of Sustainable Development  

• ENV1 - Landscape, seascape & sites of other geological interest  

• ENV2  - Wildlife and habitats 

• ENV9 - Pollution and contaminated land 

• ENV10 - The landscape and townscape setting  

• ENV11 - The pattern of streets and spaces 

• ENV 12 - The design and positioning of buildings  

• ENV13 - Achieving high levels of energy efficiency 

• ENV15 - Efficient and appropriate use of land 

• ENV 16 - Amenity  

• SUS2 - Distribution of development 

• ECON1 - Provision of employment 

• ECON2 - Protection of key employment sites 

• COM7 - Creating a safe & efficient transport network  

• COM9  - Parking provision 

 

Neighbourhood Plans 

Chickerell Neighbourhood Plan 2019-2036 (made 22/06/2021) 

• Policy CNP11 – General Design Principles 

Other Material Considerations 

Supplementary Planning Documents/Guidance 

• Weymouth & Portland Urban Design (2002) 

• Landscape Character Assessment (Weymouth & Portland) 

 
National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 

10.4 So far as this application is concerned the following sections and paragraphs are 
considered relevant; 

Paragraph 11 sets out the presumption in favour of sustainable development. 
Development plan proposals that accord with the development plan should be 
approved without delay. 

Relevant NPPF sections include: 

Page 69



• Section 4. Decision taking: Para 38 - Local planning authorities should 
approach decisions on proposed development in a positive and creative way. 
They should use the full range of planning tools available…and work 
proactively with applicants to secure developments that will improve the 
economic, social and environmental conditions of the area. Decision-makers 
at every level should seek to approve applications for sustainable 
development where possible.  

• Section 6 ‘Building a strong, competitive economy’, paragraphs 84 and 
85 'Supporting a prosperous rural economy' promotes the sustainable growth 
and expansion of  all types of business and enterprise in rural areas, through 
conversion of existing buildings, the erection of well-designed new buildings, 
and supports sustainable tourism and leisure developments where identified 
needs are not met by existing rural service centres. 

• Section 8. ‘Promoting healthy and safe communities’, paragraph 93. To 
provide the social, recreational and cultural facilities and services the 
community needs, planning policies and decisions should:  

a) plan positively for the provision and use of shared spaces, community 
facilities (such as local shops, meeting places, sports venues, open space, 
cultural buildings, public houses and places of worship) and other local 
services to enhance the sustainability of communities and residential 
environments; 

• Section 11 ‘Making effective use of land’   

• Section 12 ‘Achieving well designed places indicates that all development to 
be of a high quality in design, and the relationship and visual impact of it to be 
compatible with the surroundings. In particular, and amongst other things, 
Paragraphs 126 – 136 advise that: 

The Government attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, is 
indivisible from good planning, and should contribute positively to making 
places better for people. 

It is important to plan positively for the achievement of high quality and 
inclusive design for all development, including individual buildings, public and 
private spaces and wider area development schemes. 

Development that is not well designed should be refused, especially where it 
fails to reflect local design policies and government guidance on design.  

 
11.0 Human rights  

Article 6 - Right to a fair trial. 

Article 8 - Right to respect for private and family life and home. 

The first protocol of Article 1 Protection of property. 

This recommendation is based on adopted Development Plan policies, the application 
of which does not prejudice the Human Rights of the applicant or any third party. 

 
12.0 Public Sector Equalities Duty  

Page 70



As set out in the Equalities Act 2010, all public bodies, in discharging their functions 
must have “due regard” to this duty. There are 3 main aims:- 

• Removing or minimising disadvantages suffered by people due to their 
protected characteristics 

• Taking steps to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics 
where these are different from the needs of other people 

• Encouraging people with certain protected characteristics to participate in 
public life or in other activities where participation is disproportionately low. 

Whilst there is no absolute requirement to fully remove any disadvantage the Duty is 
to have “regard to” and remove or minimise disadvantage and in considering the merits 
of this planning application the planning authority has taken into consideration the 
requirements of the Public Sector Equalities Duty. It is considered that given the type 
and nature of the development proposed it would have no adverse impact on people 
with protected characteristics. 

 
13.0 Financial benefits  
 
13.1 There would be no direct financial benefits to Dorset Council as a result of this 

proposal. 
 

14.0 Climate Implications 
 
14.1 None.  

 
15.0 Planning Assessment 
 

Principle of development  
15.1 The sites’ location is within the Defined Development Boundary of Weymouth where 

Local Plan Policy SUS2 sets out employment development will be one of the highest 
priority locations for new development and where development that meets the needs 
of the local area will normally be permitted. As such the principle of development is 
accepted. 

 
Design 

15.2 The proposal is for two commercial units that would be formed as one building with 
rectangular planform. The new building would be two storey and have a gable end 
pitched roof. The external materials for the walls would be Marley Eternit Cladding 
colour grey and the roof would be mainly covered in solar panels set into the roof area 
and surrounded by dark grey slate. At the front (north) of the site the existing boundary 
fence would be removed, the highway kerb dropped, and vehicular access created 
along the northern boundary of the site, running across the existing pavement (Dorset 
Council Owned Land). On the flanks of the northern boundary would be located a total 
of 6 new parking bays, 3 for each commercial unit. Cycle parking would be provided 
in the southwest corner of the site and areas allocated for each unit for recycling/waste 
storage. A new chain link boundary fence would be installed to the east and south of 
the building to subdivide the existing plot and the existing gates relocated to the south 
to retain HGV access to the existing commercial unit 16 Albany Road.  

 

Page 71



15.3 The proposed commercial units would be used for General Industrial use under Use 
Class B2 and provide a total of 141m2 of internal floorspace. The proposed use is 
considered acceptable by virtue of the proposed development location on the industrial 
estate. 

 
15.4 The Chickerell Neighbourhood Plan sets out that: “Although there is little free space 

remaining (the latest 2016 study identified 1.7ha of available land) there may be further 
opportunities to intensify development at this site through the redevelopment and 
upgrading of existing sites for employment uses”. The intensification of the use of the 
existing employment site is considered to be an efficient use of land and as such in 
keeping with Local Plan Policy ENV15 and the Chickerell Neighbourhood Plan.  

 
15.5 The roof of the proposed development would be significantly covered in solar panels 

which would reduce the energy needs of the commercial units and help contribute 
towards cutting carbon emissions. As such the proposal is considered to be in keeping 
with Local Plan Policy ENV13.  

 
15.6 There are large parts of the Granby Industrial Estate recorded as being potentially 

contaminated land and as such Environmental Protection (EP) were consulted on the 
application, but have not provided a comment. It is considered that in this instance due 
to the potential contaminated land risk a planning condition is necessary to ensure that 
in the event that contamination is found when carrying out the approved development, 
the risks from contamination are minimised.      

 
15.7 The consultation response from Building Control seeks to ensure compliance with 

Building Regulations. It is considered that this would be assessed as part of a Building 
Regulations Application and as such has not been considered further as part of this 
planning assessment.  
 

15.8 The existing industrial estate is characterised by a wide range of building designs, 
materials and sizes and therefore there does not appear to be a unified design 
approach. However, the proposed buildings planform, scale and gable end pitched 
roof and materials are considered to be in keeping with the general character of the 
area and as such acceptable in design terms. As such the proposals are considered 
to be in accordance with Local Plan Policies ENV1, ENV10 and ENV12 and Chickerell 
Neighbourhood Plan Policy CNP11. 

 
 Highway Safety  
15.9 The Highway Authority has no objection to the proposed development subject to 

conditions in relation to vehicle access during construction, turning, manoeuvring, 
parking and cycle parking being constructed as submitted prior to the development 
being used. Furthermore, the applicant has provided a plan to demonstrate HGV 
access would be retained at the existing industrial unit and it is considered there is 
ample retained car parking space to serve the units. Therefore, it is considered the 
proposed development is acceptable in terms of highways safety and parking. 

 
Wildlife and Habitat 

15.10 As the application site is within 5km of the Chesil Beach & the Fleet European 
protected site, the potential impacts on the protected site have been considered. 
Having considered that the proposals are for employment development that would not 

Page 72



increase the recreational pressure on the protected site, it has been concluded that 
there will be no adverse effect on the integrity of the designated site. As such the 
proposals are considered in accordance with Local Plan Policy ENV2. 

 
Amenity 

15.11 By virtue of the commercial use of the site and the area, there are no residential 
dwellings or occupants in the vicinity that would have their amenity impacted by the 
development. As such the proposals are considered acceptable when assessed 
against Local Plan Policy ENV16.  

 

 

16.0 Conclusion 

16.1 The development has been assessed against the policies of the West Dorset, 

Weymouth & Portland Local Plan 2015, the Chickerell Neighbourhood Plan 2019-2036 

and the policies of the NPPF (2021). It has been concluded that the employment 

development would not result in any harm that would justify refusal in the public 

interest. The recommendation has been taken in compliance with the requirement of 

the NPPF to foster the delivery of sustainable development in a positive and proactive 

manner. 

17.0 Recommendation  

GRANT subject to conditions.  

1. The development to which this permission relates must be begun not later than 
the expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission.   

Reason: This condition is required to be imposed by Section 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended). 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans:  

Site Plan, Floor Plans, Location Plan, Elevations – Dwg No. 16 Albany 
Road/01A (submitted on 10 January 2023) 
Manouverability of HGV – Dwg No. 16 Albany Road Highway (submitted on 11 
January 2023) 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

3. The external facing materials for the wall(s) shall be Marley Eternit Cladding 
colour grey and roof(s) shall be Solar Panels surrounded by Dark Grey Slate.  

Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance of the development. 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 as amended, and the Town & 
Country Planning Use Classes Order 1987 as amended (or any order revoking 
and re-enacting those Orders with or without modification) the premises the 
subject of this permission shall not be used other than for uses falling into Use 
Class B2.  

Page 73



Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure that the use remains 
compatible with surrounding land uses in the area. 

5. Before the development is first occupied or utilised the first 5 metres of the 
vehicle access, measured from the rear edge of the highway (excluding the 
vehicle crossing – see the Informative Note below), must be laid out and 
constructed to a specification which shall have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure that a suitably surfaced and constructed access to the site 
is provided that prevents loose material being dragged and/or deposited onto 
the adjacent carriageway causing a safety hazard. 

6. Before the development hereby approved is first occupied or utilised the turning 
and parking shall be constructed in accordance with the approved plans.  
Thereafter, these areas must be permanently maintained, kept free from 
obstruction and available for the purposes specified.  
 
Reason: To ensure the proper and appropriate development of the site in the 
interest of highway safety. 
 

7. Prior to first use or occupation of the development hereby approved, the cycle 
parking facilities shown on drawing number: 16 Albany Road/01A shall be 
constructed and made available. Thereafter, these shall be maintained, kept 
free from obstruction and available for the purposes specified.  

Reason: To ensure provision of adequate cycle parking to support sustainable 
transport; in the interests of highway safety and residential amenity. 

8. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the 
approved development, it must be reported in writing immediately to the Local 
Planning Authority and an investigation and risk assessment must be 
undertaken in accordance with requirements of BS10175 (as amended). 
Should any contamination be found requiring remediation, a remediation 
scheme, including a time scale, shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. On completion of the approved remediation 
scheme a verification report shall be prepared and submitted within two weeks 
of completion and submitted to the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: To ensure risks from contamination are minimised. 
 

Informative: National Planning Policy Framework Statement 

In accordance with paragraph 38 of the NPPF the council, as local planning authority, 
takes a positive approach to development proposals and is focused on providing 
sustainable development.  

The council works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by:   

- offering a pre-application advice service, and             

- as appropriate updating applications/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application and where possible suggesting solutions. 

In this case:          

Page 74



- The applicant/agent was updated of any issues and provided with the opportunity to 
address issues identified by the case officer. 

Informative: Highways 

The vehicle crossing serving this proposal (that is, the area of highway land between 
the nearside carriageway edge and the site’s road boundary) must be constructed to 
the specification of the Highway Authority in order to comply with Section 184 of the 
Highways Act 1980. The applicant should contact Dorset Highways by telephone at 
01305 221020, by email at dorsethighways@dorsetcouncil.gov.uk, or in writing at 
Dorset Highways, Dorset Council, County Hall, Dorchester, DT1 1XJ, before the 
commencement of any works on or adjacent to the public highway. 

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank


	1 Agenda Front Sheet
	4 Minutes
	20230223 Decision Sheet

	6a Application No - P/ HOU/2022/07110 - 55 Church Street, Lyme Regis, DT7 3DA
	6b Application No P/FUL/2022/05777 - 7 Custom House Quay, Weymouth, Dorset, DT4 8BE
	6c Application No P/FUL/2023/00134 - 13 Clarence House, West Bay Road, West Bay, DT6 4EN
	6d Application No P/FUL/2022/07724 - 16A Albany Road, Granby Industrial Estate, Chickerell, DT4 9TH



